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Chair’s message  

The past 12 months have continued to be 
challenging, and as Chair, I would like to express 
my gratitude to the Board and staff at Phoenix 
Australia who have continued to work together as a 
team to keep the organisation running smoothly.

In many respects, as an entire community, we 
have experienced trauma that no doubt none of 
us would have expected – through devastating 
bushfires, floods and, of course, the ongoing 
global pandemic. As a result, we are all much more 
educated about trauma than we ever have been. 
There is greater empathy for those who experience 
trauma and, as a community, we better understand 
the impact of trauma and adversity on the quality of 
people’s lives. 

This also means that our work at Phoenix Australia 
has never been more important. This year ends our 
2020-22 Strategic Plan. I would like to outline just 
some of the progress that has been made during 
that time. Our goal of establishing Phoenix Australia 
as a learning organisation centred around our 
people has been brought to life. To give the best 
service, we require the best capability. We have 
invested in our people and encouraged them to 
continue to develop their skills. 

We wanted to improve outcomes for individuals, 
families and communities and we have done this 
in several ways. We enhanced our national online 
trauma portal to make it easier for people to quickly 
find the information they need and so we can 
communicate more effectively with people about 
our services. Our Director, Professor David Forbes, 
and some members of our Senior Management 
appeared at two critical and highly relevant Royal 
Commissions – the Royal Commission into 
Victoria’s Mental Health System and the Royal 

Commission into Defence and Veteran Suicide. Our 
contributions highlighted the importance of quality 
control, where there are gaps in the current system 
and how to address those gaps more effectively.

Our work in supporting first line responders has 
never been more important than in the past few 
years. One crisis after another has left first line 
responders with no respite. Shoring up supports at 
organisational, team and individual levels, so what 
they confront every day in their work does not 
adversely impact their lives, has been paramount.

We developed Responder Assist, a Centre of 
Excellence for emergency worker mental health. 
Responder Assist provides an assessment and 
referral service to ensure emergency workers 
can access care that is right for them. It has a 
full complement of clinical staff who manage, 
triage, assess and treat emergency workers                
across Victoria. 

Everyone reaches a point when they need to reach 
out for support, and now emergency workers 
can find world-leading assistance that is tailored 
to their needs. Our 2020-22 Strategic Plan also 
aimed to advance evidence-informed practice 
and treatment. This is something Phoenix Australia 
has achieved to great effect. We have undertaken 
research into moral injury and have become world 
leaders in this field. We have investigated anger, 
gambling, family violence and other areas that are 
trauma-related. 

All our treatments are evidence-based. This is at 
the core of the work that we do and makes our 
treatments powerful, relevant and effective. We 
have also engaged more closely with people with 
lived experience of trauma and mental health 

concerns. We are grateful for the support we 
have received from the Lord Mayor’s Charitable 
Foundation and other philanthropic donations to 
enable us to establish a Lived Experience Council. 
The Council will ensure our research and treatment 
programs closely align with the needs of people 
who experience trauma. They are always at the 
centre of our research and treatment programs. 

Our final goal of the 2020-22 Strategic Plan was 
to enhance the system of help and support for 
those affected by trauma. We do this in a range of 
ways, including ensuring our work is world leading. 
Through our role as a founder and co-chair of the 
Five Eyes Mental Health Research and Innovation 
Collaboration, we are working with, and learning 
from, some of the best organisations around the 
world addressing veterans’ mental health.

Senior members of Phoenix Australia are often 
invited to be part of international professional 
associations and collaborations, and we continue 
to build our international connections to enhance 
our delivery of world leading services both here 
and internationally. 

International collaboration and engagement are 
an important part of assessing where you are as an 
organisation, the effectiveness of the supports you 
provide and how your services can be improved. 
We continue to learn, be aware of national and 
international innovation, to innovate ourselves and 
then test, implement and assess everything that we 
do. 

The quality of Phoenix Australia’s work is    
nationally and internationally recognised. In         
the 2022 Victorian Resilient Australia Awards, 
Phoenix Australia won the Mental Health and 
Wellbeing award for our Bushfire Recovery Project, 
designed to build resilience and foster recovery 

in areas across Victoria impacted by the Black 
Summer Bushfires. The project delivered a suite 
of online and in-person training and mentoring 
programs, coupled with a comprehensive approach 
to support people after disaster. More than 1800 
community leaders and frontline workers accessed 
the free, expert-led, best practice training through 
56 workshops or online courses.

I would like to thank our hard-working Board 
for their commitment and dedication during the 
ongoing challenges of COVID-19. In particular, 
I would like to acknowledge the service of Rear 
Admiral Sarah Sharkey AM CSC RAN who recently 
stood down from the Board. I would like to 
welcome new Board members, Paul Wappett     
and Jacqueline Coates, who in a short period of 
time, have already made a valuable contribution to 
our team.  

To our Director, Professor David Forbes, Deputy 
Director, Professor Andrea Phelps, the senior 
management team and all our staff, thank you for 
your dedication and commitment to supporting 
individuals, families and communities experiencing 
adversity and trauma. Given 75 per cent of all 
Australians will experience a traumatic event in 
their lives, our work is vital for a thriving and healthy 
community. 

Our organisation is in good hands and is in a strong 
position. Our new strategic plan will build on the 
tremendous work that has been achieved so far, 
and we will continue to support the people in our 
community who need help as they seek to recover 
from trauma.

Janine Kirk AO

Chair’s message
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Director’s message 

As I look back at the year that has just passed, 
the ongoing impacts of the pandemic are still 
evident, but throughout the many uncertainties 
and difficulties that COVID-19 has created, Phoenix 
Australia has continued to navigate a steady path.

We have maintained strength and stability across all 
our portfolios while continuing to build our Clinical 
Services portfolio. We have also been proactive 
in providing the very best training and support to 
clinicians and frontline emergency workers at the 
coalface of the pandemic. 

I am very excited that Phoenix Australia has also 
continued to deepen and diversify its work with 
the military and veteran communities. A further 
milestone in our efforts in this area include the 
appointment of Professor Jennifer Wild as the 
Professor in Military Mental Health. 

This appointment is funded through the Australian 
Government Department of Defence and 
employed through Phoenix Australia, within its 
affiliation with the Department of Psychiatry, 
University of Melbourne.  

We’re proud to launch our new Strategic Plan that 
will carry our organisation towards 2025. While 
our values remain the same – passion, integrity, 
collaboration, responsiveness, being guided by 
scientific evidence and striving for excellence – it is 
important that we continue to evolve.

The purpose of our new Strategic Plan is clear – 
understanding trauma and renewing lives – and 
that has been a part of our organisation’s DNA from 
the very beginning.

The new plan has four key goals: we will grow our 
impact, expand the profile of Phoenix Australia, 
optimise our staff experience and strengthen our 
business foundations. There are some key elements 
within those goals that I am excited to be working 
on with my colleagues.

We will expand our focus to beyond that of trauma 
to include broader experiences of adversity. We 
recognise that adversity and trauma are part of a 
continuum, often either occurring together or one 
increasing the risk for the experience of the other. 
Phoenix Australia’s expanded focus will allow it to 
address the experience of adversity and trauma at 
individual, organisational and community levels. 

Phoenix Australia will also continue to expand its 
work to include a broader range of communities 
and workforces impacted by adversity and trauma, 
developing and delivering more comprehensive 
approaches across of our portfolios to a greater 
number of impacted Australians.

We have continued our international leadership at 
organisational and committee levels and we will 
continue to increase our focus on translational 
activity across the globe. This aligns with our 
mission of advancing the wellbeing and quality of 
life of individuals and communities who experience 
trauma and adversity, through underpinning 
research, translation to practice, clinical services 
and training. 

An increased emphasis on translating our     
research and work into effective solutions for   
other countries deepens our potential impact 
onmany other communities affected by adversity 
and trauma.

We are also continuing to deepen our engagement 
with people with lived experience of adversity, 
trauma and its effects. Building on our engagement 
of lived experience embedded in our leadership 
and in our relationships with our partners and 
collaborators, our establishment of a broader 
council of people with lived experience of trauma, 
their families, carers and kin will be a critical part of 
our organisation. 

We are working together at each level of our 
activities to ensure all our future initiatives and 
processes are relevant, sensitive, acceptable and 
effective. With so many layers to what Phoenix 
Australia does, the year ahead is full of potential to 
make a difference to the people striving to renew 
their lives after trauma.

We will continue to explore new avenues and 
initiatives to build resilience and support the 
recovery of disaster-impacted communities and 
we will further build our international connections 
through regional initiatives.  

I would like to thank our Chair, Ms Janine Kirk 
AO, for her leadership and wise counsel, and the 
Board for their consistent support during another 
challenging year. 

I thank our Patron, Air Chief Marshal Sir Angus 
Houston AK, AFC (Ret’d), and our ambassadors for 
their work in raising greater awareness of the many 
impacts of trauma and    the importance of finding 
the right kind of support and care. 

Last but by no means least, I want to thank our 
Deputy Director Professor Andrea Phelps, our 
executive management team and the talented and 
dedicated Phoenix Australia staff for their ongoing 
and unwavering commitment to our organisation’s 
mission to prevent and mitigate the impact of 
trauma across the community. 

Professor David Forbes

Director’s message
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What is trauma?  The National Centre of 
Excellence in Posttraumatic  
Mental Health 

Phoenix Australia is Australia’s National Centre of 
Excellence in Posttraumatic Mental Health.

For more than 25 years we have been a national 
and international leader in our field. We are at the 
forefront of the understanding, prevention and 
recovery from trauma.

Australian lives have and will be devastated 
by traumatic events. Three in four 
Australians will experience an event that 
can cause psychological trauma in their 
lifetime – that’s nearly 19 million people 
living in Australia today. 

Psychological trauma comes in many 
forms and impacts people from all walks 
of life.

Three in four Australians will experience 
an event that can cause psychological 
trauma in their lifetime

The impact can be deep and complex 

The problems that arise can be complex 
and impair our physical and emotional 
wellbeing. The way we see ourselves, our 
relationships and activities, and our ability 
to feel safe in the world can be turned 
upside down.

People need help moving beyond 
harrowing events. Help and support 
takes many forms, but recovery and 
renewal is always possible.

Recovery and renewal is always 
possible

We are trusted experts

Phoenix Australia are experts in trauma-
related mental health and wellbeing and 
are internationally recognised leaders in 
our field. 

We are committed to driving forward the 
mental health agenda both at home and 
abroad.

We understand trauma and renew lives

Any one of us can be affected by trauma

Phoenix Australia is an 
independent not-for-profit 
organisation and a registered 
charity. 

With an affiliation with the 
University of Melbourne, many 
of our staff are employed by 
the University and we have 
a close working relationship 
with the Department 
of Psychiatry within the 
Melbourne Medical School.

Our Board of Directors 
includes independent 
members as well as senior 
representatives from the 
departments of Veterans’ 
Affairs and Defence. 

We have more than 75 
staff, including researchers, 
clinicians and specialists 
in psychology,  psychiatry 
and social work, allowing 
our reach to stretch to 
individuals, organisations and 
communities Australia wide.

About Phoenix Australia
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Advancing knowledge and 
understanding of  trauma  

Our program of internationally acclaimed research 
advances the knowledge of posttraumatic mental 
health. Through the application of diverse research 
methodologies, we create real-world solutions 
and translate research findings into practical 
implications for governments, organisations and 
communities. 

Serving organisations and communities  

Our Policy and Practice portfolio encompasses 
policy and service development work as well as 
workforce education and training. 

Our policy and service development work aims 
to establish the best practice standards for the 
management of trauma. We translate research 
into best practice policies and procedures, and 
work with organisations to build their capacity to 
minimise the impact of workplace trauma. 

Our evidence-based workforce education 
and training programs improve the practice of 
those working with people, organisations and 
communities affected by trauma. We provide 
tailored and integrated training, supervision and 
consultation services that meet the specific needs 
of a diverse range of clients. 

Knowledge mobilisation  

We draw on our extensive research and clinical 
expertise in posttraumatic mental health to provide 
education, training and implementation solutions 
for organisations and communities that have been 
impacted by trauma, or that work with people 
affected by trauma.

These may include one of our publicly available 
self-paced online courses that have broad 
application across diverse industries and 
professions, tailored face-to-face workshops,  
or a combination of the two.

Experienced subject matter experts liaise with the 
organisation to understand its specific challenges 
and can customise the training programs to suit 
unique circumstances or requirements.

Our expertise  

Our purpose

Understanding trauma.             
Renewing lives.

Our mission

Advancing the wellbeing and 
quality of life of individuals and 
communities who experience 
trauma and adversity, through 
underpinning research, 
translation to practice, clinical 
services and training.

Research is at the heart of 
everything we do. 

We build evidence and 
translate knowledge into 
action such as improved 
treatment options and greater 
support for trauma affected 
individuals, families and 
communities. 

We are a vocal leader and 
support those impacted by 
trauma.

About Phoenix Australia
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Strategic Plan

Our Strategic Plan 2020-22 achievements

Phoenix Australia’s strategic plan for 2020-22 set out an exciting and ambitious vision for 
our future. We are proud of the initiatives we have implemented and achieved against our 
goals during the three-year period. These include:

Strategic Goal 1 – Grow our impact

Increasing proportion of clients who report improvement in their wellbeing and 
quality of life

• Defining adversity, build understanding internally and align our offerings.

• Accelerate the reach of our Training and Workforce Development offering.

• Develop and implement a standardised measurement instrument for understanding 
Phoenix Australia’s impact on clients.

• Identify and prioritise current and new target populations for impact.

• Embed lived experience into Phoenix Australia’s client service model.

• Strengthen cross-portfolio collaboration through an ‘account management’ structure 
and way of working with clients.

Strategic Goal 2 – Expand our profile

Diversify our revenue by at least 10% of total revenue  

• Expand international collaborations, translation and impact.

• Engage with and leverage our University of Melbourne partnership.

• Review and define the role of the Board to build our profile and strengthen out impact.

• Review and bolster the role and contribution of Patron(s) and Ambassadors.

• Deepen our relationship with Federal and State Governments.

• Sustain senior sector engagement and collaborations (CEO to CEO).

• Identify target populations for pro bono or discounted contribution, funding 
mechanisms, capture and report.

Strategic Goal 3 – Optimise our staff experience

Employee Engagement Score 75%

• Hybrid work model embedded and facilities strategy.

• Uplift in leadership and management capability through targeted support                    
and development.

• Strengthen our employee experience over their time with Phoenix Australia.

• Invest in a knowledge management system.

• Sustain staff engagement and communication.

• Create an internal marketplace of opportunities across segments.

Strategic Goal 4 – Strengthen our business

Achieve at least 2% annual surplus to reinvest

• Define and document a sustainable Clinical Services business model

• Continue to strengthen project and contract management systems and capability

• Review and update the underpinning cost model

• Develop and implement strategies to grow our revenue

• Review and maintain hardened cyber cecurity defences as required

Strategic plan 
2022-25 

Our purpose – 
Understanding Trauma. 
Renewing Lives – 
provides the frame for all 
that we do. 

Our values – passion, 
integrity, collaboration, 
responsiveness, 
excellence and guided 
by science – guide all 
aspects of our work and 
are reflected in our goals 
and the initiatives planned 
for this three-year period.

Goal 4
Enhance the system of help and support for those affected by trauma

Strategic plan

Goal 1 
Phoenix Australia as a 
learning organisation centred 
around our people 

• Enhance health and wellbeing 
of our staff by establishing a 
Staff Representative Council and 
granting five days ‘recharge’ leave. 

• Standardised provision for 
professional development and 
participation in ACOTS supported 
for all staff. 

• Enhance operating model to 
enable staff to better support 
and respond to clients and 
stakeholders by moving to 
Company Limited by Guarantee. 

• Build our digital capability and 
its application both internally 
and externally by formalising IT 
governance and rationalising 
software ecosystem.

Goal 2
Improve outcomes for 
individuals, families and 
communities

• Enhance our national online 
trauma portal through ongoing 
development of our websites. 

• Establish enhanced mechanisms 
to engage those with lived 
experience through the 
appointment of senior specialist 
Police and Emergency Services 
with lived experience, Tim Peck, 
and building co-design into 
several projects. 

• Continue to test the feasibility of 
providing clinical services. This 
includes assessment, planning 
and treatment through providing 
clinical services via BlueHub and 
the establishment of psychiatric 
assessment clinic.

Goal 3
Advance evidence-informed 
practice and treatment

• Develop a fully operational 
Traumatic Stress Research 
Clinic, running three randomised 
controlled trials, four PhD projects 
and implementing a Halaxy patient 
management system. 

• Expand our Practitioner Support 
Service (PSS) through the 
renewing Department of Veterans’ 
Affairs (DVA) PSS and establishing 
the Multidisciplinary Advisory 
Panel as part of our Responder             
Assist service. 

• Enhance our training portfolio 
through developing and adapting 
our training for varied industries 
and into online training modules.

• Establish implementation science-
led model within policy and 
practice by collaborating with 
Canadian CoE-PTSD.

• Provide international leadership, build national and 
international network of collaborators, through                
co-chairing Five Eyes Mental Health Research and 
Innovation Collaboration.

• Establish best practice framework to guide trauma policy 
work through the development of a framework to be used 
in work with high-risk organisations. 

• Enhance our capability in big data, advanced analytics, 
AI and machine learning and improve its application into     
our services.

• Development of partnership to access large international 
data sets e.g. US Strongstar data. 

• Promote quality assurance and evaluation across 
the system, through establishing QA/measurement 
systems for BlueHub and Responder Assist. Outcome 
monitoring and communities of practice for DVA trauma                   
recovery programs. 

• Develop research and clinical capability by establishing 
postgraduate training opportunities, offering two 
postdoctoral positions and onboarding three master 
students and a clinical psychiatrist register in 2022.
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Our clients include: 

Who we work with

Exposure to trauma at work is 
common in many industries and 
services. We partner with and guide 
organisations, communities and 
individuals to reduce the effects of 
trauma.

Our approach is to work collaboratively
and closely with organisations to gain an 
understanding of the risk and protective 
factors for their workforces, and the systems 
and processes that support employee 
wellbeing and performance. 

We consult widely with staff at all levels of 
the organisation, to determine their priorities 
and the best approaches for implementing 
and sustaining any required changes  
through frameworks, policies, practices, 
services and training. 

We help organisations with:

• benchmarking policies and procedures 
against international, industry-specific best 
practices.

• undertaking research to improve the 
understanding of issues facing workplaces. 

• implementation of policy and practice 
improvement.

• training of staff to ensure they have 
the knowledge, skills and confidence 
to implement best practice in trauma 
management.

• advice on evidence-based interventions. 

• procuring the best employee support and 
health treatment services.

• government departments with 
responsibility for people at risk of 
being impacted by psychological 
trauma, including Veterans’ Affairs, 
Defence, Home Affairs, Foreign 
Affairs, Health, Human Services and 
Education. 

• insurers and compensation agencies 
that fund treatment and support. 

• police, ambulance, fire, rescue and 
other emergency service providers. 

• peak bodies and professional 
associations organisations that 
provide treatment and/or support 
to individuals, families and 
communities impacted by trauma, 
including disaster. 

• other industries and organisations 
whose employees are at high risk 
of being impacted by psychological 
trauma.

Who inspires our work

Dr Alison (Aliey) Cheah JP was beloved by her family, colleagues 
and community. Aliey suffered from PTSD, anxiety and 
depression after a catastrophic car accident took the life of her 
partner in March 2021, 10 days shy of her 30th birthday. 

Although she attended mental health therapies, her thoughts 
around the treatment of PTSD and mental health in general was 
that it was lacking. 

Aliey’s tragic passing on 3 April 2022 has left a powerful legacy, with 
her family directing donations in her name to Phoenix Australia. 
We are honoured to partner with Aliey’s family and friends, whose 
donations will help us to continue our vital research and education 
to improve treatments and support people whose lives have been 
devastated by trauma.

February 7, 2009. Black Saturday. A date etched into the memory 
of so many Australians. For Cliff Overton, a CFA firefighter at the 
time, it was the following day that would alter his life forever.

Cliff fought in the devastating Black Saturday bushfires for two 
weeks straight, experiencing significant trauma which left lasting, 
tragic impacts on his mental health. 

He has gone on to raise awareness of PTSD, working to 
break down its stigma. Cliff is now a mental health advocate 
and  frequent collaborator with Phoenix Australia’s Responder          
Assist team.

75%
Of Australians will be 
exposed to a traumatic 
event in their lifetime

More than                    

1 million
Australians suffer from 
PTSD

Each year the team at Phoenix Australia is touched by the many people 
behind the stories of PTSD. Here we pay tribute to those with lived 
experience and those who were unable to live with the trauma of PTSD.

Three people who had a huge impact on us this year were Cliff Overton and Charlie Edwards 
– both leading advocates for PTSD – and Dr Alison Cheah JP, whose journey ended.

Charlie Edwards continues to inspire the Phoenix Australia 
team, including at a special morning tea on PTSD Awareness 
Day. Charlie, from Newcastle, tragically lost his father who 
had struggled with PTSD for many years. 

Charlie talked about the importance of raising awareness of 
PTSD, how it can affect surrounding people, and in particular, 
the impact this can have on young people. 

In November 2021, Charlie and his mates walked 30km around 
Newcastle to raise awareness of PTSD. They raised more than 
$11,000 to support Phoenix Australia’s world-leading research.

Who we work with

Phoenix Australia 2021 - 22 Annual Report14 15



Shaping policy in mental health  Shaping policy in mental health  

Phoenix Australia workplace trauma and employee wellbeing  framework  

Phoenix Australia has developed a best practice 
framework for how to support employees and 
volunteers impacted by workplace trauma, particularly 
those affected by cumulative trauma. 

The framework is based on our extensive body of 
research, policy advice and practice improvement 
work. It provides evidence-based strategies to help 
identify mental health risks, develop strategies to 
protect wellbeing or provide best practice 

approaches to support staff exposed to trauma. The 
framework’s principles and assessment criteria are 
designed to assist a range of organisations to improve 
their approach to mental health support. 

This includes promotion of employee mental health, 
management of work-related exposure to traumatic 
events and vicarious trauma and provision of early 
workplace support.

Principle Area of practice Statement of principle

Promoting mental 
health and minimising 
psychological harm

Mental health is an organisational 

priority

A clear commitment to employee mental health and 

wellbeing across all organisational levels

Culture that supports equity and

engagement

A culture that provides meaningful and engaging 

work

Minimisation of stress and promotion 

of role readiness

A mentally healthy workplace that has strategies in 

place to minimise organisational stress and increase 

role readiness

Leadership support Leaders at all levels have a key role in supporting 

employee mental health in individuals, across team 

and the whole organisation

Mental health promotion Proactive self-care, early identification of mental 

health issues and timely access to support

Monitoring wellbeing Monitoring employee wellbeing to ensure needs are 

addressed in a timely manner

Critical incident management and 

support

A stepped response following exposure to trauma to 

prevent adverse mental health outcomes and ensure 

effective risk minimisation

Early response and 
support

Integrated service system that provides 

stepped support

An integrated stepped approach to mental health 

support for staff with emerging mental health issues

Access to evidence-based care for 

emerging issues

Evidence-based interventions delivered before the 

development of mental health disorders

Specialist care to 
support recovery

Specialist mental health care and 

return to work services

A coordinated approach to mental health and 

rehabilitation, along with established pathways to 

specialist care support and return to work

Quality assurance and 
continuous 
improvement

Evaluation framework for policy and 

strategy

Program evaluation processes and continuous im-

provement culture

Shaping policy
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Our people

The success of Phoenix Australia can be directly attributed to the 
core of the organisation – our people.

We acknowledge the passion of our 75 staff to achieve the best outcomes for 
those people experiencing posttraumatic stress disorder. Their strong commitment, 
motivation and unwavering dedication to strive for excellence for their clients and 
organisations is a testimony to our success.

Our people are a team of established and emerging leaders who are nationally and 
internationally renowned for their work of achieving best practice in services for people 
with posttraumatic stress disorder.

Meet some of our experts

Courtney Bowd
Policy Specialist

Our people

Courtney Bowd is a Policy Specialist working on a variety of 
projects including those focussed on reviewing organisational 
policies, as well as other workforce development initiatives.

Her work includes reviewing the policies and practices of workplaces 
that have high exposure to trauma and making recommendations 
aligned to best practice. These include government, emergency 
services and other frontline organisations. Courtney studied 
psychology but left to work as a change management consultant. 
She missed being able to make a tangible impact on people’s lives 
and joined Phoenix Australia nearly four years ago. 

“Instead of solving business problems, I wanted to be involved in 
making people’s lives better.” Courtney started as a research assistant 
working mainly in veteran mental health. She was promoted to her 
current role and now works in the disaster space, where she project 
manages the delivery of funded training to frontline workers on the 
bushfire recovery projects. 

This work earned Courtney and her colleagues a Resilient Australia 
award in 2022. Courtney has also presented their work at the 2021 
ACOTS conference. 

“The work we get to do is amazing. I work with passionate, inspiring 
and committed people both internally and externally to Phoenix 
Australia. It’s really inspirational to come to work each day”.

Tim Peck
Senior Specialist, Police and 

Emergency Services

When it comes to bringing lived experience to a role, it’s hard to 
find more than what Tim Peck offers to Phoenix Australia. 

Tim was integral to the development of BlueHub, an independent 
and confidential service supporting Victorian Police officers with 
trauma-related injuries, and is now leading Responder Assist, a 
specialist program for emergency service workers. 

Tim’s 21-year career with Victoria Police came undone after he 
developed a significant mental health condition.  He was working 
as a Detective Senior Sergeant with experience in informer 
management, homicide and complex high-level crime investigations. 

“I was quite unwell for about five years before I left. I had a mental 
health condition that I went to great lengths to hide from my 
employer. I had transformed from an articulate, intelligent, respected 
member of Victoria Police to an anxious suicidal alcoholic.” 

Tim’s road to recovery involved extensive psychological treatment, 
suicide prevention strategies and tremendous family support. 

Realising he “wasn’t the only one” experiencing a trauma related injury from his job, Tim used his personal 
experience to shape the internationally award-winning BlueHub Project – which has now helped 280 other 
officers. Before joining Phoenix Australia in 2021, Tim’s work with Beyond Blue and The Police Association 
Victoria set the platform for BlueHub and Responder Assist.   

These initiatives have helped inform and improve systems and create access to care for many frontline 
workers. “We are improving mental health outcomes for all emergency workers and seeing amazing results 
through BlueHub and Responder Assist. We cannot prevent all mental health injuries, but we can significantly 
reduce the impact”.

Associate Professor                         
Leanne Humphries
Director, Training and 

Workforce Development

Associate Professor Leanne Humphreys has been the Director 
of Training and Workplace Development for three years, where 
she leads the development of education and training resources. 

Leanne has more than 30 years’ experience as a clinical 
psychologist. In 1993 she developed the first treatment program 
in Australia for veterans suffering from PTSD. A combination of 
clinical and teaching experience as a university lecturer gives 
Leanne good insights into how to design educational products 
that practitioners will find relevant and helpful.

“All training courses offered by Phoenix Australia are based on 
research and expert opinion, which is translated into training 
courses designed to improve outcomes for individuals, families 
and communities who have experienced trauma”.

A highlight has been the challenges of rapidly translating all 
face-to-face training into engaging and practical online courses. 
Leanne said the availability of online courses has resulted in a 
huge increase in enrolments, with the courses being accessed by 
workers across Australia and internationally too.

“What we do is unique. We offer evidence-informed training 
content, delivered within an evidence-based training delivery 
model that is informed by research about the educational 
strategies most likely to change behaviour.”
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Highlights of our year

Time to recharge

The wellbeing of our 
staff is our number 
one priority. That’s 

why all of our staff had 
access to five additional 
‘recharge’ leave days this 
financial year. The leave 
was made available in 
recognition of varying 
challenges presented 
to staff. This included 
working from home, 

caring responsibilities, 
home schooling, dealing 
with isolation and being 

separated from family and 
friends during 

the pandemic.

Resilient Australia Awards

The Victorian Bushfire Recovery Project won the 
Victorian Australian Institute for Disaster Resilience’s 
Resilient Australia Mental Health and Wellbeing 
Award. The project, which was funded by both 
state and federal government, saw the creation and 
delivery of evidence-informed, expert-led training 
and mentoring programs. 

It was delivered both online and face-to-face in 
areas impacted by the Black Summer Bushfires 
across the state. We couldn’t be prouder of the 
exceptional team and local partners behind this 
project.

National 
Reconciliation Week

During Reconciliation Week, we 
were joined by Monica Barolits, 
a Kungarakan woman from 
Darwin and CEO of the Australian 
Indigenous Doctors’  Association 
Ltd (AIDA). Monica shared 
insights into how she’s forged 
positive change in the healthcare 
field, and how other individuals 
and organisations can follow suit.

International 
Women’s Day

International Women’s Day 
saw the Phoenix Australia team 
joined by special guest Dr 
Helen Szoke AO, former Chief 
Executive of Oxfam Australia 
and commentator and advocate 
on human rights issues, to raise 
awareness of and discuss issues 
affecting women and women’s 
mental health globally.

Our people

Dr Rahul Khanna
Director, Innovation and

Medical Governance 

Rahul Khanna became the Director of Innovation and Medical 
Governance in 2021 – but he first crossed paths with Phoenix 
Australia six years ago as a senior registrar at the Austin’s trauma 
recovery service.

Rahul’s keen interest in health technology, AI and machine learning 
have enabled him to build innovative, scalable services while gaining 
knowledge in the understanding of treatment experiences for people 
undergoing trauma. 

Rahul started his PHD with Phoenix Australia in 2019 aiming to train 
software to diagnose PTSD. His research is driven by a desire to 
continually build better services in mental health. “A digital diagnosis 
based on objective measures is the first step toward treatment 
response prediction. I hope we can start taking the trial and error out 
of treatment selection soon”. 

This is the next frontier in the already research-backed measurement-
based care approach, which Rahul also helped implement across 
Phoenix Australia’s clinical services, including BlueHub, Responder 
Assist and Psychiatry clinic. “It allows us to compare on-ground    
care with research trials and ensure we’re delivering the best service 
every day. 

We’re starting to work in ways we could not even imagine a few 
years ago. “Phoenix Australia’s integration of research, consultancy, 
training and clinical services presents a unique opportunity for mental 
health innovation”.

Dr Sarah Strauvan
Research Fellow 

With master’s degrees in both Psychology and Narrative 
Therapy, Sarah Strauven has a background working as a clinician 
supporting refugees suffering trauma and mental health issues.

Sarah’s work as a Research Fellow in the Disaster Stream at Phoenix 
Australia this past year has centred around the delivery of low 
intervention strategies that can be scaled in times of disasters, 
especially in rural and regional Australia.

Her role has included working in the Disaster Mental Health 
Hub and on two SOLAR projects, a randomised control trial for 
SOLAR and a pilot study for SOLAR-Kids/Teens. For these projects, 
she helps deliver training and supervision to enable people to                 
become Coaches.

Sarah is also closely involved in their research components to 
evaluate the effectiveness of the programs in reducing mental health 
symptoms that people experience after being impacted by trauma 
from the likes of bushfires, floods and COVID-19.

“When there is a disaster, the whole community is affected and there are not enough mental health 
professionals to support people with mental health issues. We need to be thinking differently about how 
people can access support for mental health. 

”What I really like at Phoenix Australia is the emphasis on applied research, meaning that there is much 
research and work done on developing programs that can have a direct impact in the community – and 
that people are already benefitting from that”.
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PTSD Awareness Day

#helpmoreseeptsd #canyouseeptsd

A Phoenix Australia campaign to highlight 
PTSD Awareness Day on June 27 resulted 
in national landmarks being lit up, close to         
$1 million of publicity and wide-spread social 
media engagement.

Phoenix Australia led the discussion about PTSD 
Awareness Day in order to raise awareness 
and create consumer engagement around 
posttraumatic stress disorder. The Director of 
Phoenix Australia, Professor David Forbes, said 
the aim of the campaign was to give a voice to, 
and stand in solidarity with, those whose lives 
had been impacted by PTSD. 

“Now, more than ever, it’s important to 
understand how much adversity, stress and 
trauma can affect our physical and mental 
health,” he said. 

As part of a targeted media relations strategy, 
Phoenix Australia expert staff members, 
ambassadors and advocates represented the 

1.5m+
people reached through 

media outlets

Phoenix Australia turned the nation blue and 
teal, organising for a series of iconic Australian 
landmarks to be lit up this year in support of 
PTSD Awareness Day. 

Melbourne’s Flinders Street Station and Bolte 
Bridge, Adelaide’s Adelaide Oval, Canberra’s 
National Carillon, Sydney’s M4 Motorway 
tunnels and Brisbane’s Gateway Bridge changed 
colour on the evening of Monday 27 June.

organisation for PTSD Awareness Day in the 
media. It resulted in national media interviews 
across television, radio segments, podcasts and 
print/online news articles. Staff more broadly 
were encouraged to engage with the campaign 
on their own personal social media channels.

The key message for the campaign was 
centered around helping more people ‘see’ 
PTSD, through raising awareness and breaking 
down stigmas. The campaign also had its own 
web page, creative campaign, public relations 
management and social media advertising. 

“PTSD is the most common mental health 
condition after depression, and we need to help 
more people see it,” said Professor Forbes.

The lighting of these landmarks served as a 
symbol of hope and show of support for all 
those affected by PTSD. 

Forging ongoing relationships with Adelaide 
Oval, National Capital Authority, Metro Trains 
Melbourne and Transurban through these light 
ups will see them as part of Phoenix Australia’s 
network going forward, including for PTSD 
Awareness Day 2023. 

541,538
people reached through 
social media channels

4116
page views of our 

PTSD Awareness Day 
webpage

2941
users visited our 

PTSD Awareness Day 
webpage

Our reach

Communities

Military

Emergency
Services

Children and
Adolescents

Other First
Responders

Veterans

Vulnerable
Populations

Families

Survivors of 
Family Violence

Other High Risk 
Industries

137%

1.7 million
people reached through Facebook

182%

132,599
Facebook users engaged with our 
content

1.2 million
webpage views

1590
Facebook, LinkedIn 
and Twitter 
followers gained

315,792
website visitors

54,710
people viewed 
our videos

345,799
communications 
with our subscribers

104,662
resources downloaded

1

2

3

PTSD Guidelines

Helping yourself after 
a traumatic event

Recovery after 
Trauma – A Guide for 
People with PTSD

Our reach

Who Phoenix Australia supports
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Moral injury

Moral and ethical dilemmas have long been recognised in military service 
and more recently in other occupations such as emergency service workers 
and healthcare workers. The concept of moral injury is still in its infancy 
but is growing in popularity. Phoenix Australia’s moral injury research team 
is at the forefront of keeping the research up to the pace of interest from 
industry in this construct.

Some of our key projects in this area include:

The future of trauma care 

Our research is very much focussed on moving trauma care into the 
future. The ways in which we are doing this are:

1. Identifying people exposed to trauma who lack access to trauma care

While there has been much focus on people exposed to trauma in their 
workplace, such as military members and first responders, there are other 
groups that we know less about. People exposed to intimate partner violence 
and women exposed to birth trauma are two groups we are focussed on. 
Research in this area plays an important role in highlighting the service needs 
of these groups so they can access appropriate care.

Advancing knowledge and 
understanding of trauma

2. Developing new treatments

While there is no question that we have evidence-based treatments for the 
posttraumatic mental health disorders that develop after trauma, there is 
an urgent need to develop new treatments for those who do not respond 
to what is currently available. We are developing new treatments for 
posttraumatic stress disorder so patients and their clinicians have improved 
choice about which pathway is best for them.

3. Improving access to help for children and adolescents 

Children and adolescents in regional and rural areas find it difficult to access 
trauma-informed mental health care. We aim to improve this by testing early 
intervention models of mental health care delivery that can be accessed 
through schools.  

4. Increasing access to care via digital interventions

Digital interventions offer an affordable and accessible way of getting mental 
health care. However, it is essential that any digital intervention is evaluated 
to ascertain whether people engage in these interventions and whether they 
benefit from them. This year we developed, and are testing, a number of 
digital offerings for people exposed to trauma.

5. Increasing access to trauma mental health care

Migrants and other Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) groups are 
often exposed to trauma, but find it difficult to access timely and appropriate 
mental health care. Task-shifting models of intervention are those where 
components of an invention are delivered by trained non-specialists. Through 
co-design processes, we are developing task shifting models that aim to 
improve mental health outcomes in CALD groups.

• Development of the Moral Injury Outcome Scale. In collaboration with 
an international consortium of experts in moral injury, we developed and 
validated the first measure of moral injury as a multidimensional outcome. 
The measure is now published in the public domain and is being utilised by 
many research groups and organisations across the world.

• Moral injury in healthcare workers study. The COVID-19 pandemic clearly 
demonstrated the extent to which healthcare workers can be faced with 
moral dilemmas. Our study surveyed a wide range of healthcare workers to 
understand the impact of these dilemmas on their mental health 

• The Department of Veterans’ Affairs (DVA) Transition Policy branch of the 
Veteran and Family Policy Division funded a literature review on the current 
status of moral injury. Comprising both a narrative review and a rapid 
evidence assessment, the review focused on the current understanding 
of moral injury, and the effectiveness of interventions for moral injury. 
The findings of the review were presented to more than 100 DVA and 
Department of Defence personnel.

and wellbeing.

Our research

131
Calls to our Professional 

Advice Line

8
Higher degree students 

were supervised

30
National and international 
research collaborations

8
Intervention studies

1125
Hours of psychological 
treatment delivered in 

intervention trials
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COVID-19 and multiple disasters

Australia has endured many major disasters over recent years, including the 
2019-20 Black summer bushfires and catastrophic floods of 2022, which have 
been compounded by the pervasive effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Phoenix Australia has been meeting the challenges of an increasingly hazardous 
environment through an expanding program of research on disaster mental health 
and wellbeing. Key projects in 2021-22 have included: 

The Promoting Resilience and Recovery Trial
The Promoting Resilience and Recovery Trial is a randomised controlled trial of the Skills For 
Life Adjustment and Resilience (SOLAR) program, which is based in disaster and pandemic-
impacted parts of rural and regional Victoria. SOLAR is being delivered by trained Coaches 
who are members of the Mental Health Practitioners Network (MHPN). Participants are 
randomly allocated to receive SOLAR or a minimal intervention comprising a self-directed 
online program. Intervention delivery and data collection is ongoing.

Surveys of teachers and students in bushfire-affected schools in Victoria
The Teacher’s Health Foundation and Victorian Department of Education and Training co-
funded a project conducted by the Melbourne School of Population and Global Health and 
Phoenix Australia. It involved conducting wellbeing surveys in bushfire-affected schools. 
Surveys were administered to schools across Outer Gippsland and Ovens Murray regions in 
late 2021, with responses received from 525 students and 125 staff. The summary report  is 
being used for knowledge translation activities that are being organised by the Department 
of Education and Training.

SOLAR Kids and Teens pilot
The Victorian Department of Health has funded Phoenix Australia to work with the 
Resilience and Recovery Team within the Victorian Department of Education and Training to 
implement an adapted version of SOLAR that is suitable for delivery to students in school-
based settings. The project has involved developing new online training materials and 
detailed governance processes that have enabled delivery of SOLAR training to school staff 
who are positioned to deliver the program to children.

A compound perspective on COVID-19 and disasters
The National Mental Health Commission awarded funding for Phoenix Australia to conduct 
a project to improve understanding of the experiences of people exposed to compound 
disaster trauma. This involved interviews and focus groups with community members and 
help providers situated across Victoria, NSW, and country South Australia. Data collection 
took place from April–May 2022 and involved 18 semi-structured interviews and five online 
focus groups involving 31 participants. Data analyses and reporting for this project have 
been completed, with preliminary engagement with the funder and planning for knowledge 
translation activities currently ongoing.

Our research
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Intimate partner violence

Phoenix Australia has continued to 
develop an expanding program of 
applied research that is improving 
recognition and responses to Intimate 
Partner Violence (IPV) across a range 
of settings. Key components of this 
research program for 2021-22 include:

Continued work with the Department of 
Veterans’ Affairs (DVA) to strengthen the 
evidence base underlying their policy 
responses to IPV. The final report on a 
preliminary mixed-methods project based 
in Open Arms services was finalised 
in 2021. A large data analysis project, 
that is generating evidence regarding 
the frequency and risk factors for IPV 
exposure and use among Australian 
veterans, has been commissioned and   
is ongoing.

Two foundational reviews of evidence 
regarding the prevalence of IPV among 
military personnel and veterans, as well 
as IPV interventions in specific health 
services, were published in 2022. These 
have been based on a partnership with 
the Atlas Institute for Veterans and 
Families, which has also commissioned 
a subsequent study with Phoenix 
Australia. This involves interviews with 
Canadian veterans and family members 
regarding their experiences of IPV and              
help-seeking.

Phoenix Australia also completed a 
qualitative project regarding service 
provider perspectives on IPV in specialist 
gambling help services. This was funded 
by the Victorian Responsible Gambling 
Foundation.

Sleep problems are a signature health 
complaint among high trauma-exposed 
groups.

The Transdiagnostic Intervention for 
Remote Ex-military and first responDers 
(TIRED) study is funded by the Victorian 
Department of Premier and Cabinet and 
the Atlas Institute in Canada. It was the 
first randomised controlled trial to test 
the novel treatment, Transdiagnostic 
Intervention for Sleep and Circadian 
Dysfunction (TranS-C), across a range of 
sleep and circadian problems in veterans 
and first responders.

Trans-C was delivered via telehealth to 
veterans and first responders. They were 
followed up at different timepoints using 
structured measures and electronic sleep 
diaries as well as cutting-edge actigraphy 
(wrist watch devices used to monitor 
sleep patterns and mental health). 

Early findings suggest Trans-C can help 
to alleviate symptoms across different 
sleep and mental health disorders. TIRED 
represents recognition of the role of 
sleep to wellbeing in those likely to have 
been exposed to trauma.  

It also addresses the need for discovering 
treatments that can enhance outcomes 
of sleep and mental health comorbidities 
across sleep and mental health problems.

PTSD treatment innovations

Innovations in treatments are crucial to providing 
survivors with more pathways to recovery. The 
Research Clinic at Phoenix Australia sits at the cutting 
edge of forming new evidence-based treatments 

for PTSD.

The ‘Intervention to Manage PTSD, Adjustment Disorder 
and Comorbidity after Trauma’ (IMPACT) trial continued 
delivering treatment to survivors of trauma using gold 
standard prolonged exposure, and a new mechanistic 
treatment centralised around emotion regulation. 
Supported by the National Health and Medical Research 
Council and the Atlas Institute in Canada, the trial 
expanded its reach this year to veterans and 

first responders.

IMPACT pushes the boundaries of traditional trauma-
focussed evidence-based care. It offers an alternate 
transdiagnostic approach that does not rely on explicitly 
focussing on reexperiences of traumas which can be 
a barrier for some. In its final phase of recruitment and 
data collection, the trial will critically inform the benefits 
of an emotion-focused therapy, paving the way for fresh 
alternatives for treating PTSD.

Exercise examined for treating PTSD

The benefits of exercise in treating PTSD are being 
examined by the innovative ‘Brain-Derived Neurotrophic 
Factor (BDNF)’ trial. 

In this collaboration, led by Professor Kim Felmingham from 
the Melbourne School of Psychological Sciences (MSPS), 
the role of BDNF (a naturally occurring protein in the brain) 
is implicated in changes related to learning and memory. It 
is critical to fear-extinction mechanisms underpinning the 
success of the gold standard treatment for PTSD.

In this world-first trial, Phoenix Australia is partnering with 
MSPS to deliver prolonged exposure paired with stretching or 
aerobic exercise. 

The trial is examining how the benefits of prolonged 
exposure, the current gold standard therapy for PTSD, can 
be potentiated via increasing BDNF levels achieved through 
exercise. These critical changes to therapy can make 
significant differences to people who do not respond as well 
to current evidence-based treatments.

Key research

The TIRED study – 
advancing treatments in 
sleep  

Our research
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A focus on improving mental health for current 
and ex-serving military members

With an emphasis on optimising mental health and wellbeing, our Military Mental 
Health program of research focusses on supporting military, veterans and 
frontline workers in the aftermath of exposure to trauma.

Our program of work is nestled around five key areas: 

Military mental health

Phenomology

The Wellness Action 
Through Checking 
Health project

The Wellness Action Through Checking 
Health (WATCH) project is about 
understanding how subthreshold mental 
health symptoms present and whether these 
presentations are being recognised. It is the 
first to use a qualitative methodology to talk 
to current serving military members, their 
families, their health service providers and 
their leaders about the early identification of 
mental health symptoms.

The Well-Ahead study

The Well-Ahead study assessed the 
feasibility of a tailored online intervention to 
support the mental health needs of women 
veterans and former emergency service 
personnel. A key feature of this project is the 
inclusion of in-depth qualitative interviews 
with women, aimed at understanding their 
lived experience. 

Women’s mental health

Our program of work on women’s mental 
health aims to broaden our understanding of 
the unique mental health needs, preferences 
and experiences of women. We are 
achieving this through basic research and 
analysis, design and trial of interventions, 
consultation and co-design activities and 
translation projects.

Physical and Mental Health 
intersections

Phoenix Australia is working to understand 
the intersect between physical and mental 
health through a range of research and 
analysis activities. These include a review 
of current evidence regarding the role of 
biological processes in the development 
of PTSD. Analyses are exploring gender 
differences in the relationship between 
physical and psychological symptoms 
following trauma exposure.

Anger, Violence and 
Suicide study

Phoenix Australia led a study to examine the 
relationship between anger, violence and 
suicide in current serving military personnel 
and veterans. We examined the predictors 
of problem anger, violence and suicidality 
for veterans. These findings have important 
implications on how to prevent suicide for 
veterans and have been considered by the 
current Royal Commission into Defence and 
Veterans Suicide.

Highlights for 2021-22

Screening and 
assessment

Early 
intervention

Novel treatments 
and interventions

Resilience and 
recovery

Our research
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Phoenix Australia higher degree
supervision projects 2021-22

Research is fundamental to everything we do.

We conduct innovative research that makes a real difference 
in the lives of trauma survivors. Our state-of-the-art research 
improves the understanding, identification and treatment of the 
mental health consequences of trauma. 

The higher degree supervision projects undertaken during      
2021-22 were:

Student name Degree Research title

Cecily Schwab PhD Supporting the mental health of CEOs

Susanne Lohmann PhD Finding a Trauma Lens to Mental Health Responses for 
Intimate Partner Violence

Rahul Khanna PhD Biomarkers associated with PTSD diagnosis

Hope O’Brian PhD The role of emotion regulation in promoting recovery 
after complex trauma

Andrea Putica PhD The role of Alexithymia in response to PTSD treatment

Loretta Watson PhD Healthy ageing in Vietnam veterans

Nicole Sadler PhD Suicide risk in serving and ex-serving members of the 
Australian Defence Force

Fiona Henrich PhD
Investigation of the differences between adaptive 
dreams and posttraumatic nightmares as featured in 
posttraumatic stress disorder

The Rapid Exposure Supporting Trauma Recovery (RESTORE) 
trial has been a flagship project of Phoenix Australia.

RESTORE is funded by a National Health and Medical Research Council 
partnership grant. This is with the Australian Government Department of 
Defence, Department of Veterans’ Affairs and Open Arms (the Military 
Mental Health research team which aims to find novel ways of delivering 
evidence-based treatment for PTSD). 

The RESTORE trial provided therapy for current serving military personnel 
and veterans. The trial compared the standard format of prolonged 
exposure therapy (SPE) of one session per week for 10 weeks with an 
intensive version of therapy - massed prolonged exposure (MPE) of one 
session every weekday for two weeks.

Both treatment groups experienced significant reductions in anger, 
anxiety, depression, and improvements in quality of life.

SPE group participants MPE group participants

ex-serving Australian 
Defence Force (ADF)

RESTORE

current-serving ADF

More than half of each 
of the MPE and SPE 
participants no longer 
met the criteria for 
PTSD - and this was 
maintained at 12 months.

Participants in the 
MPE treatment were 
3.5 times less likely to 
drop out of therapy 
compared to SPE 
participants.

66% 34%

71 63

Key study metrics

Our research
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Building capacity in 
organisations and communities 

Phoenix Australia provides evidence-informed services, advice and staff support 
across government, emergency service, health and community sectors. We translate 
research into best practice policies and procedures. We work with organisations and 
communities to build their capacity to minimise the impact of trauma and adversity.

Our approach is trauma-informed. We work collaboratively and closely with the people and 
groups we support to gain an understanding of their unique risk and protective factors, as 
well as the systems and processes that support their wellbeing. We consult widely with staff 
at all levels of organisations through interviews, focus groups and surveys. We also review 
policies and procedures.

Our team works to align with national and international research findings and evidence- 
informed and best practice guidelines. This includes our own best practice workplace 
trauma and employee wellbeing framework. From this, we work with each organisation 
to determine their priorities and best approaches for implementing and sustaining any 
required changes. This is done through co-designed strategies or frameworks, policies, 
practices, services and training.

We provide services in four main areas:

Workplace trauma – We support organisations and agencies to minimise the 
mental health impact of workplace stress and trauma. We provide advice on trauma 
management policy and regulations, review current policies and practices and co-design 
with organisations to create tailored frameworks, training and tools to build workforce 
capacity. This includes interventions to support individual workers, supervisors and 
managers, peer supporters and chaplains, families and mental health providers.

Trauma-informed service delivery – We provide advice and support to organisations 
to ensure they deliver services in a trauma-informed manner. This includes providing 
assistance in service design and planning or developing practical tools to support 
individual and organisational trauma-informed practices.

Evidence-based support and treatment – We promote evidence-based interventions 
and support in organisations that offer services to people affected by trauma, including 
through the development of guidelines, programs and training.

Resources for trauma-affected communities – We develop tools and resources for 
people and communities affected by trauma, such as web pages and information 
booklets. Our team also provides advice to organisations on how to engage effectively 
and ethically with people who use their service.

Building capacity
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Activities to design, deliver 
and/or coordinate emergency 
worker-centric innovative 
intervention research and 
evaluation projects.

• A research framework has been 
developed, with two action-
oriented qualitative research 
studies to be undertaken. 

   The first study is underway 
and examines what clinicians 
need to sensitively treat 
and effectively work with 
emergency workers. 

   A second study has been 
developed to examine 
emergency workers’ views 
on mental health services 
that are best suited to their 
treatment needs. It is aimed at 
clients who have completed 
treatment through the 
Responder Assist model.

• An internal quality 
improvement framework 
has been developed and will 
be adopted to ensure that 
a continuous improvement 
model of care is implemented. 

   An external agency, Urbis, has 
been engaged to provide an 
independent evaluation of    
the project.

Launched in March 2021 by the Victorian 
Government, Phoenix Australia is leading a new 
Centre of Excellence aimed at improving mental 
health outcomes for emergency service workers 
by building the capability of health practitioners            
to support them.

There are initially seven agencies of focus (which includes 
serving and former serving members and paid and volunteer 
staff):

• Victoria Police 

• Ambulance Victoria

• Fire Rescue Victoria

• Country Fire Authority

• Forest Fire Fighters employed by Department of Environment, 
Land, Water and Planning and partner agencies

• Victoria State Emergency Service

• Emergency Services Telecommunications Authority.

Responder Assist: Centre 
of Excellence in Emergency 
Worker Mental Health  

Responder Assist  
– the three broad pillars of activity

Build awareness and capability 
of practitioners across Victoria.

• A comprehensive suite of 
training resources has been 
developed in conjunction 
with pathways to specialist 
support and advice. This is 
to improve the competence 
and confidence of Victorian 
clinicians when engaging with 
emergency service workers.

   The content of this training was 
created within a competency 
framework and includes online 
training to support cultural and 
clinical competence, as well as 
opportunities to participate in a 
Community of Practice.

• The Responder Assist 
Multidisciplinary Advisory 
Panel (MDAP) has been 
established and is available 
to provide free consultation 
advice and support on 
individual cases. Practitioners 
can access expert advisors 
from multiple disciplines 
including Psychiatrists, 
Clinical Psychologists, Clinical 
Neuropsychologists, General 
Practitioners and Social 
Workers.

• The Responder Assist website 
was publicly launched on 
18 May 2022 through a 
social media campaign, 
promotional video and 
webinar. A comprehensive 
marketing strategy has been 
implemented to strategically 
target key stakeholders as the             
project evolves.

Establish and maintain a 
Specialist Network of Clinicians, 
including a Centralised Intake 
and Referral  service.

• The Centralised Intake and 
Referral (CIR) service has been 
established and is accessible by 
phone or through the website 
during business hours.  

   The service offers a triage 
service and referral pathways 
to emergency service workers 
and veterans. Access for 
emergency workers and 
veterans to the CIR has been 
through direct engagement 
with agencies or through 
individual enquiries as a result 
of the broader marketing 
campaign.

• The Specialist Network of 
Clinicians (SNC) has one 
full-time equivalent clinician 
available for telehealth 
or in-person treatment 
sessions, delivered at the Post 
Traumatic Stress Clinic at the 
Parkville campus of the Royal 
Melbourne Hospital. 

   Several external private 
clinicians have completed the 
required training competencies 
and are actively engaged with 
clients referred through the 
CIR. Support mechanisms for 
the SNC include fortnightly 
supervision on trauma-
focussed treatments and 
regular Community of Practice 
sessions.

Pillar 1 Pillar 2 Pillar 3

Building capacity
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Supporting the mental health 
of Victorian communities 
impacted by COVID-19

Phoenix Australia has partnered with 
the Victorian Government Department 
of Health to develop and provide a suite 
of free online training to those most 
impacted by COVID-19.

In 2022, Psychological First Aid, 
Trauma-informed Care, Introduction to 
Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Skills fOr 
Life Adjustment and Resilience (SOLAR) 
were tailored for the COVID-19 context. 

Since the program’s recent launch more 
than 170 people have registered for the 
training and workshops for SOLAR are 
planned. Webinars targeting key impacted 
sectors are also being planned for the 
second half of 2022. 

How we have supported 
disaster-impacted communities 

Through our bushfire-related projects, Phoenix 
Australia staff have visited many bushfire-impacted 
communities across Australia. The opportunity 
to directly engage with community leaders, 
frontline workers, health care providers and other 
community members has greatly enriched our 
ability to provide relevant resources and training.

We have continued to demonstrate our ability to 
respond strategically, and with agility, to emerging 
threats as the Australian community has endured 
the challenges of cumulative natural disasters and 
the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

In late 2020, a dedicated director role was 
established to better coordinate our work 
responding to large-scale emergencies, such as 
bushfires, floods and pandemics. During its first full 
year, this role has been central in coordinating our 
work on funded projects, as well as responding 
rapidly to emerging events with targeted trauma-
related resources and policy advice.

Disaster Mental Health Digital 
Platform 

The Disaster Mental Health Hub is a digital platform, 
funded by the Australian Government Department 
of Health. It was created in response to an urgent 
need for evidence-based and consistent mental 
health responses to disaster-affected communities 
across Australia; an increasingly critical need for 
the many communities faced with the cumulative 
impacts of bushfires, drought, floods, COVID-19 
and other hazards.

The Hub was designed in partnership with 
Primary Health Networks, disaster experts and 
communities, as an innovative digital platform that 
builds capacity and resilience.

 It ‘helps the helpers to help others’ better 
– whether GPs, allied and mental health 
professionals, frontline and recovery workers, 
managers, supervisors or others who support 
disaster-impacted individuals and communities.

Since its launch in 2021, the Hub and associated 
webinar and communication outreach program 
has been visited more than 50,000 times. 

It provides high-quality, evidence-informed 
accessible information, resources and free internet 
training, in multiple formats and languages, 
to those who need it most. This project was 
completed in June 2022, although the resources 
remain available.

National bushfire mental 
health response 

Phoenix Australia has been engaged by 
the Australian Government Department of 
Health to provide trauma-related training and 
resources for more than three years to support 
the recovery of communities impacted by the 
2019-20 bushfires.

This work is being undertaken across five 
States and Territories in collaboration with 
Primary Health Networks, bushfire coordinators 
and local emergency service agencies.

The support package includes:

• Trauma-informed Care training for 
emergency service frontline workers.

• Psychological First Aid training for leaders.

• Supporting individuals after disaster resources 
and training for primary health care teams.

This training has been offered in both fully 
online and blended formats. More than 2200 
people have commenced the training, with 
over half having already completed it.

Phoenix Australia has conducted 54 workshops 
across eight communities, across three States. 
Feedback from training participants has been 
overwhelmingly positive, with more than 95 
per cent satisfied and more than 84 per cent 
finding it relevant to their work.

More than half of the participants used their 
skills gained from the training within three 
months of completion and 99 per cent 
reported that they felt the person they were 
supporting benefited from the application of 
the skills from a moderate to a great extent. 
All training participants said that they would 
use the skills again in other similar situations 
supporting impacted individuals.

Victorian Black Summer 
response
The Victorian Department of Health engaged 
Phoenix Australia to strengthen the capability of 
frontline staff and community leaders across the 
East Gippsland and North-East regions of Victoria 
to support the recovery of communities impacted 
by the 2019-20 bushfires.

The project conducted a training needs-analysis 
to identify any specific knowledge and skills gaps 
of the target audience. Its outcomes informed the 
development of a strategic implementation plan, 
which recommended training offerings that align 
with the stepped care approach to mental health 
support.

The package includes Psychological First Aid, 
Trauma-informed Care, Skills fOr Life Adjustment 
and Resilience (SOLAR) and Trauma-focussed 
Cognitive Behavioural Therapy. More than 1200 
people across Victoria have now registered for 
training, which is offered in both fully online and 
blended formats.

This project received the 2022 Resilient Australia 
Mental Health and Wellbeing Award in Victoria.

Building capacity
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Serving organisations and 
communities – at a glance

Frontline mental health 
support

On behalf of the Victorian State Government, 
Phoenix Australia developed and delivered 
initiatives aimed at providing additional mental 
health and wellbeing support to Ambulance 
Victoria, Victoria Police and Victorian Public 
Health Services employees. 

After consulting with senior representatives from 
those organisations, Phoenix Australia developed 
a series of online training modules for mental 
health providers to improve their workplace cultural 
competency and confidence in undertaking 
assessments and interventions with workers from 
these sectors. 

The training modules follow similar themes for 
each cohort including culturally competent care, 
treatment planning and case formulation, as well  
as a case study and support systems.

National Redress Scheme

The Commonwealth Department of Social Services 
commissioned Phoenix Australia to conduct a 
trauma-informed review of the National Redress 
Scheme forms and letters. 

Phoenix Australia used a trauma-informed care 
framework to review the Scheme’s forms and 
letters. Through a co-design process we consulted 
with key stakeholders including National Redress 
Scheme staff, Redress Support Services staff, 
Jurisdictions staff, Independent Decision Makers 
and Survivors of Institutional Child Sexual Abuse. 

Based on the co-design process, the team 
provided recommendations for improving forms 
and letters to ensure they are accessible, culturally 
safe and trauma-informed. This is to minimise 
barriers to efficient and timely determinations 
and communications. 

Department of Environment, 
Land, Water and Planning

The aim of this project was to develop a sustainable 
peer support program for the Department of 
Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) 
and partnering agencies. 

The program made recommendations applying 
to both day-to-day peer support, as well as 
considerations for using peers as part of a multi-
agency wellbeing response during emergencies. 
The project included a systematic literature 
review, sector review (including interviews) and 
development of a peer support program self-
evaluation tool for agency benchmarking. 

This informed the development of peer support 
program documentation, as well as the design, pilot 
delivery and refinement of a best-practice training 
package for peer supporters. 

WorkSafe Victoria Fatalities 
Investigation Team

Phoenix Australia was engaged by WorkSafe 
Victoria to undertake a 12-month follow-up review 
of WorkSafe’s Fatalities Investigation Team’s (FIT) 
wellbeing support systems and processes. 

The review examined and reported on staff 
perceptions of current strategies used to mitigate 
role-related risks, wellbeing supports and the 
implementation of systems and processes 
instituted in the previous year. One-on-one 
interviews were conducted with team members 
and recommendations were made to continue to 
improve support for the FIT. 

WorkSafe Victoria 
Occupational Violence and 
Aggression 

WorkSafe Victoria commissioned Phoenix Australia 
to undertake an investigation into ways to prevent 
and manage occupational violence and aggression 
against its employees. 

The project incorporated feedback from 10 focus 
groups representing 14 different work teams. 
Recommendations were generated across five 
main areas, including governance, prevention, 
training, response and reporting.

Asylum Seeker Resource 
Centre 

The Asylum Seeker Resource Centre (ASRC) 
engaged Phoenix Australia to implement trauma-
informed practices across its support services. 
The ASRC has a mix of volunteers and paid staff 
that provide a broad range of support services 
to refugees and asylum seekers.  This includes 
specialist support such as legal advice or complex 
case management and help with immediate needs 
such as access to food or language services and 
housing.

Phoenix Australia consulted with the ASRC 
leadership to develop a deep understanding of 
how current organisational systems, culture and 
practices aligned with trauma-informed principles. 
This resulted in planned support for workforce 
development and strategic goals implementation. 
We facilitated planning workshops, reviewed 
documents and provided practical advice. This 
ensured that the new ASRC rapid response 
program, and its work to further embed a human-
rights based approach to service delivery, was 
consistent with trauma-informed practice. 

Safer Families Consortium – 
Readiness Program 

The Safer Families Consortium - Readiness Program 
aims to develop and deliver a practical, consistent 
and national training program for primary health 
care providers to respond to disclosures of 
domestic and family violence more confidently 
and effectively. 

The program is being implemented by the Safer 
Families Centre in partnership with the Royal 
Australian College of General Practitioners, Blue 
Knot Foundation and Phoenix Australia. As part of 
this project Phoenix Australia produced a trauma 
and violence-informed online course.

Serving organisations 
and communities
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NSW Police Force

Following Phoenix Australia’s 2019 review of 
NSW Police Force’s (NSWPF) mental health and 
wellbeing, and the development towards the 
NSWPF Mental Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2025 (the 
Strategy), NSWPF engaged Phoenix Australia to 
undertake two additional projects in 2021 that align 
with the Strategy priorities. These are:

Mental Wellbeing Climate Survey
Phoenix Australia was engaged to develop and 
deliver a mental wellbeing climate survey for 
the NSWPF. It is designed to serve as a baseline 
survey aligned with the NSWPF Mental Wellbeing    
Strategy 2020-2025. All NSWPF employees 
were invited to participate and this data was 
analysed. Phoenix Australia also generated  
recommendations for consideration by the 
NSWPF Working Group to assist with ongoing 
improvements to wellbeing services. 

Review of Peer Support Officer Program
Phoenix Australia conducted a targeted review 
of the NSWPF Peer Support Officer Program. 
Customised peer support principles were used to 
guide the review and benchmarking of the current 
program. Evidence-informed recommendations 
were provided to improve the current program. 
This included the areas of policy and practice, 
training for peer support officers, and how the Peer 
Support Officer Program aligns with other mental 
health services and initiatives.

Australian Guidelines for the 
Prevention and Treatment of 
Acute Stress Disorder (ASD), 
Posttraumatic Stress Disorder 
(PTSD) and Complex PTSD 

As part of continual review processes, revised 
recommendations contained in the Australian 
Guidelines for the Prevention and Treatment 
of Acute Stress Disorder (ASD), Posttraumatic 
Stress Disorder (PTSD) and Complex PTSD (the 
Guidelines) were approved by the NHMRC. 

This year, under our new contract with the 
Department of Health, Phoenix Australia was 
also required to promote the Guidelines to 
increase dissemination, uptake, awareness and 
implementation. Activities included ongoing 
surveillance of relevant literature to maintain 
the relevance, accuracy and integrity of the 
Guidelines, a comprehensive dissemination and 
implementation process as well as evaluation of the 
impact of implementation activities. 

New South Wales Rural Fire 
Service  

The New South Wales Rural Fire Service (NSW RFS) 
engaged Phoenix Australia to re-design its five-year 
mental health strategy, framework and action plan 
into an integrated approach. 

The project included a targeted review of the 
existing mental health programs, services and 
related strategies - including the current mental 
health strategy - against current best-practice. 

Through a co-design process, a new mental health 
strategy and implementation plan was developed. 
It focussed on building leadership capability, staff 
training, organisational culture, critical incident 
support and evaluation of services. 

Supporting the Aged Care workforce

Phoenix Australia continued to develop resources to support the aged care residential 
sector. A Trauma-informed Care package was funded by the Department of Health. 

It included resources for aged care organisations and their leadership to help 
implement trauma-informed practices and support the wellbeing of older Australian 
and aged care staff. Resources included brief training packages, multilingual 
information sheets, videos and self-help programs for staff, as well as tip sheets and 
videos for older people and their families.  

All of these were made available through an online portal. The materials were 
developed and reviewed through a co-design process. This involved a wide range of 
aged care organisations as well as advocacy groups representing the diverse needs of 
older Australians and health and aged care workers. 

Dissemination of the resources was supported by an ongoing communication 
strategy that included regular social media campaigns to industry and webinars aimed 
at older people and the aged care sector. A marketing campaign launched the Trauma 
and Aged Care Support and Information Hub in September and October 2021. The 
website has had more than 50,000 pages visits and over 15,000 unique visitors.

Serving organisations 
and communities
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Clinical services

The clinical services portfolio is responsible for the delivery of 
clinical activities across Phoenix Australia. It offers specialist 
psychological and psychiatric trauma assessment and treatment 
services to a range of high-risk populations. 

It offers this to community members suffering from trauma-related 
mental health disorders. It also provides clinical governance and risk 
management support to Phoenix Australia clinical research trials. The 
portfolio aims to deliver best practice treatment for trauma-related 
disorders and set benchmarks for clinical governance and quality 
assurance. 

This was achieved by implementing a well-designed model of 
care incorporating an optimal clinical competency framework and 
customised set of clinical standards. It is staffed by in-house clinicians 
based at the Royal Park Campus of the Royal Melbourne Hospital, as 
well as networks of contract clinicians across the state. 

The clinical services portfolio has responsibility for establishing and 
implementing state and nationally-based communities of practice. This 
includes offering expert multidisciplinary clinical advice and support to 
clinicians working with highly traumatised populations. 

The Clinical Services portfolio oversees and/or carries clinical 

governance responsibility for five streams of work including:

• Trauma Psychiatry Clinic (bulk-billed clinic)

• BlueHub Service

• Responder Assist

• Clinical governance activities

• DVA Practitioner Support Services and mental health advice.

Phoenix Australia has continued to refine and operate a specialised mental health 
service for Victorian-based police members who are impacted by trauma. 

The three-year pilot program is available to Victoria Police and Victorian-based 
Australian Federal Police. It is being funded by the Federal Department of Health in 
partnership with The Police Association of Victoria. A network of 55 mental health 
clinicians across 11 ‘hubs’ are providing expert assessment and evidence-based 
treatment to police members. 

Clinicians have received specifically-developed BlueHub training in police culture 
and PTSD treatment and attend monthly Community of Practice sessions. Phoenix 
Australia is providing quality assurance over the delivery of the service for police, 
operating the BlueHub intake team, managing clinicians, submitting research papers 
and conducting evaluation into the outcomes of the service. 

As of June 2022, a total of 241 intakes have been completed, 157 members are 
currently in treatment and a further 41 members discharged from the BlueHub 
service. A further 39 members were on the waitlist for allocation to a clinician. 
Preliminary analyses of outcomes are indicating a strong reduction in psychological 
symptoms for police members, showing that PTSD, anxiety and depression 
symptoms are reducing below diagnostic thresholds.

BlueHub

Clinical Services
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Trauma Psychiatry Clinic
The Phoenix Psychiatry Clinic soft-launched in 
September 2021 and became fully operational with 
the appointment of our first psychiatry registrar in 
February 2022. 

The clinic providers bulk-billed (no-gap) specialist 
psychiatric assessments and some ongoing care, based 
on capacity. Current streams of activity include support 
for BlueHub and Responder Assist clients, and in-reach 
to Victorian and Tasmanian ADF veterans serviced by 
Open Arms. The clinic has also seen some general 
community members, a service which will expand with 
the upcoming launch of our rural and regional Victorian 
stream. This is made possible by corporate sponsorship 
from Latrobe Health Services. This 12-month trial will 
expand access to specialised assessment for rural 
Victorians affected by trauma. 

In its first 12 months, 102 people have accessed 
275 psychiatry appointments at Phoenix Australia. 
Recruitment is underway for additional psychiatric 
staffing for 2023. Uniquely in the state, psychiatry 
trainees at Phoenix Australia have the opportunity 
to both conduct research and learn and apply        
evidence-based structured psychotherapy. Phoenix 
Australia aims to develop a more diversely qualified 
psychiatric workforce.

The Department of Veterans’ Affairs (DVA) appointed Phoenix 
Australia to provide a range of initiatives to support its work, and that 
of practitioners, to improve the mental health outcomes of veterans, 
their families and the veteran community. 

Phoenix Australia facilitates quarterly forums that provide opportunities 
for trauma recovery program directors, managers and staff to share 
knowledge and information, problem-solve common issues, explore 
treatment innovations and extend learning though case discussions and 
paper presentations. An information portal provides access to literature 
updates, information on veteran mental health and a discussion board. 

Our work with DVA this year included: 

DVA Practitioner Support Service

• Providing a quarterly webinar for DVA’s Royal Commission Taskforce to 
promote support of their mental health and wellbeing as they reviewed 
evidence for the Royal Commission into Defence and Veteran Suicide. 

• Implementing a Community of Practice for posttraumatic stress 
disorder trauma recovery programs.

• Analysing emerging trends for policy and service delivery to DVA 
through monthly research abstracts, quarterly presentations and ad 
hoc advice.

• Supporting the veteran community by sharing knowledge and 
information through VetAffairs, VetNews and veteran forums.

• Providing a DVA practitioner support service and veteran mental health 
consultation service.

• Providing a frequently asked questions document for DVA and Open 
Arms websites, which is updated twice a year.

• Providing quarterly and ad hoc advice to DVA and Open Arms      
advisory committees

The DVA practitioner support service and veteran mental health 
consultation service is a free national service accessed via a 1800 
number or the Phoenix Australia website. Expert advice and case 
consultations are provided by a dedicated expert multidisciplinary 
panel that includes psychiatrists, a mental health social worker, GP and 
psychologists. The service also provides general advice and information 
on veteran mental health care to non-health professionals and veteran 
support agencies working with or supporting veterans with mental health 
problems and their families.

Clinical Governance activities
We provide clinical governance oversight for all of our clinical 
programs, including research trials, by providing clinical 
supervision and regular Community of Practice meetings for 
internal clinicians and external contract staff. 

Our work includes:

• Providing access to multi-disciplinary advice panels.

• Developing bespoke clinical competency standards by which 
clinicians across all programs are accredited and performance 
reviewed.

• Developing and implementing evidence-based models of care, 
incorporating a customised set of clinical standards. 
These are established through consultancy with lived 
experience groups, clinicians, funders and other external 
stakeholders. They are continuously reviewed and modified 
on the basis of patient and clinician feedback and review of 
clinical outcomes.

Clinical Services
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Education and Training

6426
online    
training 

enrolments

119
workshop 

and webinars 
delivered

3404
workshop 

and webinar 
registrations

5695
workshop 

and webinar 
participants

Phoenix Australia is now reaching 
more people than ever before with our 
Education and Training programs.

Both the demand and ability to deliver our Education and Training 
Programs has increased. This is due to the growing recognition of the 
prevalence of mental health and its social and economic impacts, as 
well as the advantage of using digital technologies. Phoenix Australia 
employs education and digital experts to ensure the training continues 
to be optimal for consumers and reflective of best practice.

Academic learning specialists, with a substantial background in clinical 
psychology and educational pedagogy, oversee the production of 
academic content. Learning designers with education, government 
and corporate experience translate the content for the online 
platform ensuring learning outcomes, assessment tasks and activities 
are aligned with course objectives. Technical staff oversee software 
applications, learning platforms and web customer interfaces. 
Customer-oriented staff provide in-time support for client and user
queries and event management. The team continually looks to 
improve the way the training is developed and delivered to ensure an 
optimal customer experience.

51
public, 

customised and 
project courses 

delivered

164
organisations 

purchased 
training 
courses

Training Associates

Phoenix Australia has continued to expand our 
capacity to provide high quality, practical and 
professionally relevant workshops by building a 
network across Australia of expert mental health 
practitioners who are also highly experienced and 
well-regarded clinical educators. 

These Training Associates have joined our Training 
and Workforce Development team and are experts in 
the field of delivering high quality, face-to-face and 
web-mediated training and educational activities.

Responsive training

Our Psychological First Aid (PFA) and Trauma-
informed Care (TIC) courses were relaunched 
to be more accessible, interactive and engaging 
for the learner. They are shorter and contain more 
interactive elements including increased media, more 
and varied case scenarios, and additional quizzes 
and capstone assessments. They test the participants 
understanding and ensure that the training 
adequately delivers on the learning objectives.

RACGP Accreditation

As part of Phoenix Australia’s commitment to support 
the mental health training for service providers, we 
are developing training offerings targeted at GPs. As 
part of that project, we are undergoing accreditation 
to be a registered Continuing Professional 
Development education provider for the Royal 
Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP).

Expanding our reach to the 
Philippines

Supported by Austrade, Phoenix Australia has started 
to expand our mental health education and training 
expertise to the Philippines. 

Professor David Forbes and Anna Parkin, Head 
of Training and Workforce Development, visited 
Manila to progress discussions with government 
departments and multilateral funding agencies to 
up-skill community healthcare workers in low level 
psychosocial interventions. 

Evaluation of our courses

Phoenix Australia is committed to continuous 
improvement of its education and training, whether 
online or in workshop format. Data on participants’ 
experience and level of learning is captured at three 
time points; prior to commencement to assess their 
knowledge base and expectations, on completion to 
assess knowledge acquisition and satisfaction with 
the learning experience, and three months later to 
assess knowledge retention, application of new skills 
and whether the learning objectives have been met.

The survey questions have been designed using 
Kirkpatrick’s Four-Level Training Evaluation Model 
which is globally recognised as one of the most 
effective tools for measuring learning outcomes. 
These target more than just knowledge acquisition 
and include content relevance and changes in 
attitudes and confidence levels to use the new skills 
taught. They help determine if Phoenix Australia’s 
courses deliver on their stated learning objectives and 
satisfy client needs and expectations.

Building a trauma-informed 
workplace
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Psychological First Aid 

Phoenix Australia’s flexible self-paced online 
Psychological First Aid (PFA) course aims to build 
understanding of the recommended techniques 
of Psychological First Aid. It gives learners the 
confidence to support people after a traumatic 
or distressing event. It includes how to create
a sense of safety, provide emotional comfort as 
well as deliver practical advice and assistance 
to create calm. It also works to help people 
connect with others and help someone cope in 
those immediate moments and beyond.

Trauma-informed Care 

Phoenix Australia’s Trauma-informed Care (TIC) 
course helps to build the skills necessary to 
develop and implement practices that create
a safe and supportive environment for those 
affected by trauma and adversity. It ensures the 
overall wellbeing of the workforce, organisation 
or community. 

Our Trauma-Informed Care course provides 
essential training for managers, supervisors, 
community leaders and anyone who has 
responsibility for the psychosocial wellbeing      
of others.

In the past year all Phoenix Australia courses have been refreshed 
and upgraded to reflect user feedback and the latest research. 
Around 6500 people across a range of industries have benefited 
from one of these online programs and thousands more have 
attended customised training workshops. These include:

Our training courses

Vicarious Trauma, Building 
Resilience and Reducing Risk

Phoenix Australia’s Vicarious Trauma, Building 
Resilience and Reducing Risk course is designed 
to equip learners with a range of strategies to 
strengthen resilience and mitigate the risks
of vicarious trauma. Resilience, like physical 
strength, can be built and maintained with 
regular evidence-based practices at home 
and in the workplace. The course takes a 
practical approach and provides learners with 
an organisational framework to guide the 
development of policies and procedures. These 
promote best practice before, during and after 
exposure to potentially distressing materials or 
events and provides practical strategies that 
target individual wellbeing.

Trauma-focused Cognitive 
Behavioural Therapy

Trauma-focussed Cognitive Behavioural Therapy 
(TF-CBT) is an evidence-based treatment for 
Posttraumatic Stress Disorder that aims to
help the individual come to terms with trauma 
through exposure and emotional processing of 
memories of the event. 

TF-CBT comprises a number of treatment 
components. They include engagement and 
stabilisation, psychoeducation, the use of 
arousal reduction strategies, imaginal and 
in-vivo exposure therapy, trauma-focussed 
cognitive therapy (trauma-focussed cognitive 
restructuring), management of comorbidities and 
residual issues, relapse and termination. It also 
includes the involvement of significant others 
such as parents and caregivers.

“Having done this training, I feel 
confident to sit back, listen and 
observe people in my groups 
and to identify something that 
might not be quite right before 

they even realise it could 
be triggering.” 

Shane, TIC participant

Spotlight on our initiatives

COVID-19 Mental Health – A Victorian Government initiative to provide 
customised training to workers and industries most effected by the 
pandemic. This includes migrant groups, small business, sports and 
recreation, education, community groups and the creative industries. 
Phoenix Australia developed a customised version of PFA, TIC and 
Spotlight on PTSD. Two shorter introductory courses describing trauma 
and the value of learning the principles and skills taught in PFA and TIC 
were also developed.

Trauma and Aged Care Support and Information Hub – An Australian 
Government initiative to provide bespoke information and training to 
aged care workers and supporting health care providers. 
Phoenix Australia continues to provide tailored online courses for aged 
care workers.

Massed Prolonged Exposure Therapy for the treatment of PTSD – A 
short and effective therapy with improved outcomes for PTSD sufferers. 
This was delivered as a face-to-face workshop to Open Arms Clinicians 
and based on Phoenix Australia led research.

Building a trauma-informed 
workplace
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Building critical skills for 
workplace wellbeing

Many industries and services are exposed to multiple 
stressors that can have debilitating effects on workers 
and workplace wellbeing. The pandemic has also added 
enormously to the strain for many people 
and organisations.

Phoenix Australia draws upon our extensive research, clinical, and 
pedagogical expertise to develop evidence-informed education 
and training programs that support organisations, communities and 
individuals. The programs aim to strengthen people’s resilience and 
ability to prevent or mitigate the impact of stress, trauma and adversity.

Our commitment to evidence-informed content and pedagogies, 
backed by extensive clinical and research expertise in mental health, 
sets us apart from other training services. Our workshops are delivered 
by clinical specialists with educational expertise that undergo a rigorous 
selection and preparation process.

We apply various approaches for the management of exposure to 
trauma and occupational stress. These include peer support programs, 
psychological first aid, trauma informed care, posttraumatic mental 
health treatment, staff wellbeing and resilience programs, including the 
management of vicarious trauma.

In the past year we delivered a range 
of training initiatives including:

“Because mental health is an issue that could 
affect career options, people don’t always talk 
about what’s going on. We need to shift that 
and bring mental health to the forefront. It 

needs to be as important as physical health.” 

Peta, TIC participant

Navy Clearance Divers Trust

Phoenix Australia was engaged by the Navy 
Clearance Diver Trust to develop and deliver 
mental health and wellbeing workshops to 
Clearance Divers who had transitioned out of 
fulltime service. 

The aim of the workshops was to assist 
participants to develop practical, effective and 
adaptable strategies to support themselves and 
their mates during and following transition. 
Three workshops were delivered: face-to-face in 
Sydney and Brisbane and an online session with 
participants joining from WA, Brisbane, Adelaide 
and Singapore.

Australian Border Force

For several years, Phoenix Australia has been 
delivering training for Australian Border Force 
(ABF) Investigators and their supervisors on 
managing exposure to objectionable material. 
The workshops for investigators are conducted 
over two days and involve graduated exposure 
to child abuse and counter-terrorism materials 
in a safe and controlled environment designed 
to minimise risk. Training is co-facilitated by a 
Phoenix Australia senior clinician and a senior 
ABF investigator.

Cognitive Processing Therapy 
for CASA House

Phoenix Australia delivered a training package, 
including a workshop and supervision, to upskill 
CASA (Centre Against Sexual Assault) House 
workers in Cognitive Processing Therapy (CPT). 
CPT is an evidence-based treatment for PTSD 
which offers an alternative treatment protocol 
to trauma-focussed therapies like EMDR or 
Imaginal Exposure for survivors of sexual assault 
and abuse. The program is part of long-standing 
work with the sexual assault sector to deliver 
training in evidence-based therapies.

Supporting Victim Services, 
Support and Reform

Victim Services, Support and Reform (VSSR) is 
a business unit in the Victorian Department of 
Justice and Community Safety. 

Phoenix Australia supported VSSR this year by 
providing its direct support staff with training in 
Psychological First Aid and Trauma-informed 
Sexual Assault Support. This training provided 
staff with the knowledge and skills to support 
victims and survivors of sexual assault in a 
trauma-informed way.

Building a trauma-informed 
workplace
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Following the 2019-20 bushfires,        
Phoenix Australia has had the opportunity 
to work with many frontline workers who 
have been supporting their communities 
since the devastating Black Summer. This 
includes working through the challenges 
of the pandemic and for many, through the 
impacts of subsequent disasters.  

The Director of Disaster and Public Health Emergencies,         
Alexandra Howard ,and her team heard many stories of          
resilience  and communities coming together while delivering 
training in bushfire-impacted regions. Here she shares some               
of the experiences...

“Again and again we heard about how long and difficult the 
recovery journey has been for people’s communities, their colleagues 
and for themselves. 

Even two years on from the bushfires, emotions were still raw, 
some workers were burnt out or exhausted, and for many, our 
training was one of the first times they had been able to come together 
since the fires to reflect and learn more about how they could support 
their communities. 

We learnt quickly to allow even more time than usual for discussion 
during activities and breaks, as the workshop provided an important 
forum for people to strengthen networks within their own communities.

They really valued the training, especially when we could deliver it in 
their community. By the end of each session they were turning their 
minds to who else would benefit from the training, and how they could 
use these skills if another disaster were to hit their community. 

We have been lucky enough to be invited back into several communities 
as the need is still definitely there.”

Supporting frontline 
workers

Building a trauma-informed 
workplace
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For our whole publication list for this 
financial year, see phoenixaustralia.
org/research/research-publications

Interventions

Our research is wide 
and varied. It provides a 
comprehensive approach to 
investigating trauma and its 
many manifestations. 

Some of our publication 
highlights include:

Key peer-reviewed 
publications

Dell, L., Sbisa, A., Forbes, A., O’Donnell, M., Bryant, R., 
Hodson, S., . . . Forbes, D. (2022 April). Effect of Massed 
vs Standard Prolonged Exposure Therapy on PTSD 
in Military Personnel and Veterans: A Non-inferiority 
Randomised Controlled Trial. Psychological Medicine, 
1-8. doi:10.1017/S0033291722000927 
 
Gibson, K., Little, J., Cowlishaw, S., Toromon, T., Forbes, 
D., & O’Donnell, M. (2021 August). Piloting a scalable, 
post-trauma psychosocial intervention in Tuvalu: 
the Skills for Life Adjustment and Resilience (SOLAR) 
program. European Journal of Psychotraumatology, 12(1), 
1948253. doi:10.1080/20008198.2021.1948253 
 
Lotzin, A., Hinrichsen, I., Kenntemich, L., Freyberg, R.-C., 
Lau, W., & O’Donnell, M. (2021 September). The SOLAR 
group program to promote recovery after disaster and 
trauma—A randomized controlled feasibility trial among 
German trauma survivors. Psychological trauma: theory, 
research, practice, and policy. doi:10.1037/tra0001105

Where we were published

Military and Veteran Mental Health

Dell, L., Casetta, C., Benassi, H., Cowlishaw, S., Agathos, 
J., O’Donnell, M., . . . Forbes, D. (2022 Febuary). 
Mental health accross the early years in the military. 
Psychological Medicine.  
 
Cowlishaw, S., Metcalf, O., Little, J., Hinton, M., Forbes, 
D., Varker, T., . . . O’Donnell, M. (2021 September). Cross-
lagged analyses of anger and PTSD symptoms among 
veterans in treatment. Psychological Trauma: Theory, 
Research, Practice, and Policy. doi:10.1037/tra0001084 
 
Metcalf, O., O’Donnell, M., Forbes, D., Bar-Haim, Y., 
Hodson, S., Bryant, R.A., McFarlane, A.C., Morton, D., 
Poerio, L., Naim, R., Varker, T. (2022 March). Attention-
control training as an early intervention for veterans 
leaving the military: A pilot randomized controlled trial. 
Journal of Traumatic Stress, 1-9. doi:10.1002/jts.22828

Moral Injury

Jones, K. A., Freijah, I., Carey, L.B., Carleton, N., Devenish-
Meares, P., Dell, L., Rodrigues, S., Madden, K., Johnson, L., 
Hosseiny, F., Phelps, A.J. (2022 February). Moral Injury, 
Chaplaincy and Mental Health Provider Approaches to 
Intervention: A Scoping Review. Journal of Religion and 
Health, 61, 1051–1094. doi:10.1007/s10943-022-01534-4

Phelps, A. J., . Adler, A. B., Belanger, S. A. H., Bennet, C., 
Cramm, H., Dell, L., Fikretoglu, D., Forbes, D., Heber, A., 
Hosseiny, F., Morganstein, J. C., Murphy, D., Nazarov, A., 
Pedlar, D., Richardson, J. D., Sadler, N., Williamson, V., 
Greenberg, N., & Jetly, R. . (In Press). Addressing moral 
injury in the military. BMJ Mil Health, e002128 (Online 
ahead of print). doi:10.1136/ bmjmilitary-2022-002128

Lawrence-Wood, E., Baur, J., Lawrence, A., Forbes, D., & 
McFarlane, A. (2021 September). The role of inhibitory 
processes in the relationship between subsyndromal 
PTSD symptoms and aggressive behavior. Journal 
of Psychiatric Research, 143, 357-363. doi:10.1016/j.
jpsychires.2021.09.037

Metcalf, O., Little, J., Cowlishaw, S., Varker, T., Arjmand, 
H.-A., O’Donnell, M., . . . Forbes, D. (2021 November). 
Modelling the relationship between poor sleep and 
problem anger in veterans: A dynamic structural 
equation modelling approach. Journal of Psychosomatic 
Research. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2021.110615

Varker, T., Arjmand, H.A., Metcalf, O., Cowlishaw, S., 
O’Donnell, M., Forbes, D., McFarlane, A.C., Bryant, R.A., 
Hopwood, M., Phelps, A., & Hinton, M. (2022 May). 
Using an ecological momentary assessment protocol 
to understand problem anger in veterans. Journal of 
Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry 76(101746). 
doi:10.1016/j.jbtep.2022.101746

Varker, T., Cowlishaw, S., Baur, J., McFarlane, A.C., 
Lawrence-Wood, E., Metcalf, O., Van Hoof, M., Sadler, N., 
O’Donnell, M., Hodson, S., Benassi, H., & Forbes, D. (2022 
May). Problem anger in veterans and military personnel: 
Prevalence, predictors, and associated harms of 
violence and suicide. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 
151, 57-64. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2022.04.004

Trauma and Anger

Trauma and Intimate Partner Violence

Cowlishaw, S., Sbisa, A., Freijah, I., Kartal, D., Mulligan, 
A., Notarianni, M., Iverson, K., Couineau, A., Forbes, D., 
O’Donnell, M., Phelps, A., Smith, P., Housseiny, F. (2022 
March). Health service interventions for Intimate Partner 
Violence (IPV) among military personnel and veterans: 
A scoping review. International Journal of Environment 
Research and Public Health, 16(6), 3551.

Iverson, K.M., Dardis, C.M., Cowlishaw, S., Webermann, 
A.R., Shayani, D.R., Dichter, M.E., Mitchell, K.S., 
Mattocks, K.M., Gerber, M.R., Portnoy, G.R. (2022 
May). Effects of intimate partner violence during 
COVID-19 and pandemic-related stress on the 
mental and physical health of women veterans. 
Journal of General Internal Medicine, 65(7), 992-1013. 
doi:10.1177/0002764221992826

30
Peer-reviewed conference 
presentations

16
Invited presentations

42
Technical reports

58
Peer-reviewed publications

Publications

Lau, W., Kartal, D., Pearce, A., Murray, K., Doyle, N., 
Baur, J., and O’Donnell, M. (2021 October). The TIRED 
Trial Progress Report (2021 March). Prepared for The 
Canadian Centre of Excellence on Post-Traumatic Stress 
Disorder (PTSD) and Related Mental Health Conditions. 
Melbourne: Phoenix Australia – Centre for Posttraumatic 
Mental Health.
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Governance and
management

An independent not-for-profit organisation, Phoenix Australia has a Board 
of Directors that provides oversight of strategic direction, strategic risk 
management, governance and performance. 

Our Board includes independent members and senior representatives from the 
University of Melbourne and departments of Veterans’ Affairs and Defence.

Board meetings and attendance 2021-22

22/7/21 28/9/21 30/11/21 23/2/22 26/4/22

Ms Janine Kirk AO • • • • •
Ms Jacqueline Anne 
Coates 3

Professor Christopher 
Davey • • •
Professor David Forbes • • • • •
Mr Michael James Harper • • • •
Professor Malcom John 
Hopwood • • • • •
Mr Rodney Charles Piltz • • • • •
Rear Admiral Sarah 
Sharkey AM CSC RAN 1,2 • • • •
Mr Donald Spinks AM • • • •
Mr Paul Wappett 4 • •

•

1 RADM Sarah Sharkey AM CSC RAN - Leave of Absence 27 April 2021 - 27 July 2021 / Resigned 26 April 2022
2 Mr David Morton, Director General Health Policy, Programs and Assurance Australian Defence Force Centre 
for Mental Health attending as observer on behalf of RADM Sharkey - Leave of Absence 27 April 2021 - 27 July 
2021
3 Ms Jacqueline Anne Coates appointed 10 May 2022, first board meeting attendance 11 July 2022
4 Mr Paul Wappett appointed 11 November 2021

Attendance Non-attendance Non-appointment 
at time of meeting

Patron and 
ambassadors 

Patron 
Air Chief Marshal 
Sir Angus Houston, AK, 
AFC (Ret’d)

Ambassador 
David Mann AM KSJ FAICD

Ambassador 
Wing Commander 
Sharon Bown RN, FACN 
(Ret’d) 

Ambassador 
Magda Szubanski AO   

Our Board

Board members as at 30 June 2022

Ms Janine Kirk AO

Professor David Forbes

Ms Jacqueline Anne Coates

Professor Christopher Davey

Mr Michael James Harper

Professor Malcolm Hopwood

Mr Rodney Piltz

Mr Don Spinks AM

Mr Paul Wappett

Chair
Ms Janine Kirk AO

Professor David Forbes Ms Jacqueline Anne 
Coates

Professor Christopher 
Davey

Mr Michael James 
Harper

Professor Malcolm 
Hopwood

Mr Rodney Piltz Mr Don Spinks AM Mr Paul Wappett

Governance and management
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Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income for the year  
ended 30 June 2022

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the accounts.

Notes 2022 2021

Assets $ $

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 4,191,479 3,316,566

Trade and other receivables 6 1,435,669 2,706,195

Other current assets 7 120,588 338,559

Work in progress 1      1,260,711       1,061,194

Total current assets 7,008,447 7,422,515

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 93,898 66,078

Intangible assets 9 339,265 236,630

Right-of-use leased assets 21(a) 228,016 352,317

Total non-current assets 661,179 655,025

Total assets 7,669,625 8,077,539

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 2,768,325 2,800,947

Employee benefits 11 58,961 5,223

Borrowings 12 2,891 22,246

Other liabilities 13 2,944,254 3,246,153

Lease liabilities 21(b) 229,925 179,393 

Total current liabilities 6,004,356 6,253,962

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 21(b) 19,895 185,774

Total non-current liabilities 19,895 185,774

Total liabilities 6,024,251 6,439,736

Net assets 1,645,374 1,637,803

Equity

Retained surpluses 14 1,645,374 1,637,803

Total equity 1,645,374 1,637,803

Statement of financial position
30 June 2022

Notes 2022 2021

$ $

Revenue 3 12,490,346 9,982,175

Cost to deliver projects and services 9,371,477 7,606,146

Gross profit 3,118,869 2,376,028

Other operating expenses

Consultants fee 135,809 154,766

Contractors fee 293,124 184,993

Design, printing and production 18,904 45,253

Travel and accommodation 21,316 16,526

Employment expense (non project related) 1,827,557 1,108,152

Depreciation and amortisation 4 357,848 242,612

Independent board member fees 36,996 46,900

Rent and outgoing expenses 122,947 189,642

Telephony and teleconference 64,185 49,287

Information technology (inc licences) 59,647 156,727

Marketing and communication 27,760 16,944

General expenses 132,976 136,670

Interest expense (leases) 12,229 16,026

Total expenses 3,111,299 2,364,497

Profit / (loss) before income tax expenses 7,570 11,531

Income tax expense  -  -

Profit / (loss) after income tax expense for the year 7,570 11,531

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 7,570 11,531

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction 
with the accompanying notes to the accounts.
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The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes to the accounts.

Notes 2022 2021

$ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from sales and other activities 19,743 42,200

Receipts from customers 13,419,731 9,398,846

Donations received 15,027 5,368

Interest paid on leases (12,229) (16,026)

Payments to suppliers and employees (12,078,507) (9,438,638)

Net cash from / (used in) operating activities 20(b) 1,363,764 (8,250)

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 4,678              8,878

Payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment (72,369) (27,583)

Payment for salesforce business development (28,700) -

Payment for LMS phase I and II (185,321) (252,369)

Net cash from / (used in) investing activities (281,712) (271,073)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of lease liabilities (207,139) (203,594)

Net cash from / (used in) financing activities (207,139) (203,594)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 874,914 (482,918)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 
year

5 3,316,566 3,799,484

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 20(a) 4,191,479 3,316,566

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Retained surpluses Total equity

$ $

Balance at 1 July 2020 1,626,273 1,626,273

Profit / (loss) after income tax expense for the year           11,531 11,531

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -

Total comprehensive income for the year 11,531 11,531

Balance at 30 June 2021 1,637,803 1,637,803

Balance at 1 July 2021 1,637,803 1,637,803

Profit / (loss) after income tax expense for the year 7,570 7,570

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -

Total comprehensive income for the year 7,570 7,570

Balance at 30 June 2022 1,645,374 1,645,374

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the accounts.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Note 1: Statement  
of significant  
accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all 
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

the company is expected to be 
entitled in exchange for transferring 
goods or services to a customer. 
For each contract with a customer, 
the company identifies the contract 
with a customer; identifies the 
performance obligations in the 
contract; determines the transaction 
price which takes into account 
estimates of variable consideration 
and the time value of money; 
allocates the transaction price to the 
separate performance obligations 
on the basis of the relative stand-
alone selling price of each distinct 
good or service to be delivered; and 
recognises revenue when or as each 
performance obligation is satisfied 
in a manner that depicts the transfer 
to the customer of the goods or 
services promised.

Grants

Grant revenue is recognised in profit 
or loss when the company satisfies 
the performance obligations stated 
within the funding agreements. If 
conditions are attached to the grant 
which must be satisfied before 
the company is eligible to retain 
the contribution, the grant will be 
recognised in the statement of 
financial position as an Unearned 
Income liability (as outlined below) 
until those conditions are satisfied.

Unearned income

The liability for unearned income 
is the unutilised amount of grants 
received on the condition that 
specified services are delivered or 
conditions are fulfilled. Whilst agreed 
services are usually provided or the 
conditions usually fulfilled within 
12 months of receipt of the grant, 
where some portion of the agreed 
services are yet to be provided as at 
the end of the financial year, a liability 
is recognised based on the estimated 
amount of services that will be 
provided after year end.

Donations

Unconditional donations are 
recognised at the time the pledge 
is made and any restricted donation 
recognised as income when the 
relevant conditions are met.

Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when 
it is received or when the right to 
receive payment is established.

Work in progress

Represents any preliminary work 
undertaken for a project where the 
contract is yet to be signed or when 
work under contract is in progress 
but not yet billed.

Income tax

As the company is a charitable 
institution registered as health 
promotion charity in terms of 
subsection 30-B of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997, as amended, 
it is exempt from paying income tax 
and Deductible Gift Recipient under 
section 30-15 of the provisions of the 
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and 
other similar taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets 
are recognised net of the amount 
of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from 
the tax authority. In this case it is 
recognised as part of the cost of the 
acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense.

Receivables and payables are 
stated inclusive of the amount of 
GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the tax authority is 
included in other receivables or other 
payables in the statement of financial 
position.

Cash flows are presented on a 
gross basis. The GST components 
of cash flows arising from investing 
or financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to 
the tax authority, are presented as 
operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are 
disclosed net of the amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the 
tax authority.

Current and non-current 
classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in 
the statement of financial position 
based on current and non-current 
classification.

An asset is classified as current when: 
it is either expected to be realised or 
intended to be sold or consumed 
in the company’s normal operating 
cycle; it is held primarily for the 
purpose of trading; it is expected to 
be realised within 12 months after the 
reporting period; or the asset is cash 
or cash equivalent unless restricted 
from being exchanged or used to 
settle a liability for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period. All other 
assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is classified as current 

when: it is either expected to be 
settled in the company’s normal 
operating cycle; it is held primarily 
for the purpose of trading; it is due 
to be settled within 12 months after 
the reporting period; or there is 
no unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting period. 
All other liabilities are classified as 
non-current.

Trade and other receivables

Other receivables are recognised at 
amortised cost, less any allowance 
for expected credit losses.

Furniture and office equipment

Furniture and office equipment is 
measured on a cost basis.

Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is carried 
at cost less, where applicable 
any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the 
items.

Depreciation is calculated on a 
diminishing value basis to write off 
the net cost of each item of property, 
plant and equipment over their 
expected useful lives as follows:

New or amended accounting 
standards and interpretations adopted

The principal accounting policies 
adopted in the preparation of the 
financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, 
unless otherwise stated.

Any new or amended Accounting 
Standards or Interpretations that are  
not yet mandatory have not been 
adopted early.

The adoption of these Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations did not 
have any significant impact on the 
financial performance or position of  
the company.

Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting (Conceptual Framework)

The company has adopted the revised 
Conceptual Framework from 1 July 
2021. The Conceptual Framework 
contains new definition and recognition 
criteria as well as new guidance on 
measurement that affects several 
Accounting Standards, but it has not 
had a material impact on the company’s 
financial statements.

AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial 
Statements - Simplified Disclosures  
for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit  
Tier 2 Entities

The company has adopted AASB 1060 
from 1 July 2021. The standard provides 
a new Tier 2 reporting framework with 
simplified disclosures that are based on 
the requirements of IFRS for SMEs. As 
a result, there is increased disclosure 
in these financial statements for key 
management personnel and  
related parties.

Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial 
statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards - Simplified 
Disclosures issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’), 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 and 
Victorian legislation the Fundraising Act 
1998 and associated regulations and the 
Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for not-for-profit oriented entities.

Historical cost convention

The financial report is prepared on an 
accrual basis and is based on historical 
costs and does not take into account 
changing money values or, except 
where specifically stated, current 
valuations of non-current assets.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial 
statements requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying 
the company’s accounting policies. 
The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements, 
are disclosed in note 2.

Revenue recognition

The company recognises revenue as 
follows:

Revenue from contracts  
with customers

Revenue is recognised at an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which 
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Note 2: Critical 
accounting 
judgements, estimates 
and assumptions

Note 3: Revenue

The preparation of the financial 
statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts in the financial statements. 
Management continually evaluates its 
judgements and estimates in relation to 
assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, 
revenue and expenses. Management 
bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience 
and on other various factors, including 
expectations of future events, 
management believes to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The resulting 
accounting judgements and estimates 
will not always equal the related actual 
results. The judgements, estimates and 

assumptions of most significance in the 
preparation of these reports include

—   Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 
impact on upon finance statements

—   Useful life estimations used in 
determining amortisation and 
depreciation of assets

—   Estimations in relation to project 
completion that can impact 
unearned revenue

—  Calculations and revenue 
recognition

2022 2021

$ $

Revenue from contracts with customers

Fee for projects 11,965,311 9,607,058

Fee for services 216,089 -

   12,181,400       9,607,058

Other revenue

Donations 15,027 5,368

Grants 269,703 320,563

Income from other activities 16,783 38,085

Interest 4,473 6,986

Publications and audio visual sales 2,960 4,114

        308,946          375,117

Total revenue    12,490,346       9,982,175

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Leasehold improvements  3–5 years 
Plant and equipment  3–7 years 
Office equipment  3–5 years

The residual values, useful lives and 
depreciation methods are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date.

An item of property, plant and 
equipment is derecognised upon 
disposal or when there is no future 
economic benefit to the company. 
Gains and losses between the 
carrying amount and the disposal 
proceeds are taken to profit or loss.

Intangible assets  
(non-financial assets)

Assets related to systems and 
software are carried at cost, less 
accumulated amortisation. Systems 
and software costs are amortised on 
a straight line basis over five years.

Impairment of intangible assets

Non-financial assets are assessed 
for impairment annually. Any excess 
of an asset’s carrying amount over 
its recoverable value is recognised 
immediately as an expense in profit 
or loss.

Contractors and consultants

Consultants

Person or company who undertakes 
a contract to provide specialised 
advice and/or labour to company. 
Consultants usually perform work 
outside of the skillsets available 
across Phoenix Australia staff. 

Contractors

Person or company who undertakes 
a contract to provide labour and/
or materials to perform a service 
for and/or on behalf of company. 
Contractors usually perform overflow 

work that Phoenix Australia would 
otherwise be able to perform itself 
given greater availability of  
internal resources.

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities 
for goods and services provided to 
the company prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid. 
Due to their short-term nature 
they are measured at cost and are 
not discounted. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 
30 days of recognition.

Unearned revenue

Unearned revenue represent the 
company’s obligation to transfer 
goods or services to a customer  
and are recognised when a customer 
pays consideration, or when the 
company recognises a receivable  
to reflect its unconditional right 
to consideration (whichever is  
earlier) before the company has 
transferred the goods or services  
to the customer.

AASB 16 leases

Leases and for lessees eliminates the 
classifications of operating leases and 
finance leases. Except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets, 
right-of-use assets and corresponding 
lease liabilities are recognised in 
the statement of financial position. 
Straight-line operating lease expense 
recognition is eliminated with a 
depreciation charge for the right-
of-use assets (included in operating 
costs) and an interest expense on the 
recognised lease liabilities (included 
in finance costs).

For classification within the statement 
of cash flows, the interest portion is 
disclosed in operating activities and 

the principal portion of the lease 
payments are separately disclosed in 
financing activities.

Right of use assets

A right-of-use asset is recognised at 
the commencement of recording 
a lease under AASB 16. The right-
of-use asset is measured at cost, 
which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted for, as 
applicable, any lease payments made 
at or before the commencement 
date net of any lease incentives 
received, any initial direct costs 
incurred, and an estimate of 
costs expected to be incurred 
for dismantling and removing the 
underlying asset, and restoring the 
site or asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over the 
unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the asset, 
whichever is the shorter. Where 
the company expects to obtain 
ownership of the leased asset 
at the end of the lease term, the 
depreciation is over its estimated 
useful life. Right-of use assets are 
subject to impairment or adjusted 
for any re-measurement of lease 
liabilities.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, 
including non-monetary benefits, 
annual leave and long service leave 
expected to be settled wholly within 
12 months of the reporting date are 
measured at the amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities  
are settled.

Financials

2021 - 22 Annual Report 67Phoenix Australia66



Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Note 4: Expenses
Surplus before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Note 5: Cash and cash equivalents

Note 7: Other assets

Note 8: Property, plant and equipment

Note 6: Trade and other receivables

2022 2021

$ $

Depreciation

Furniture and office equipment           44,548            20,586

Right-of-use leased assets (AASB16)         211,412          193,472

        255,960          214,058

Amortisation

Website development - 3,317 

Salesforce business pipeline           14,350 -

LMS phase I and II 87,538 25,237

101,888            28,554

Depreciation and amortisation expense 357,848          242,612

2022 2021

$ $

Petty cash 618 804

Cash at bank - NAB public fund account           83,528            44,222

Cash at bank - NAB cheque account      3,950,746 3,115,576

Term deposit - NAB (investment) 156,587 155,964

4,191,479 3,316,566

2022 2021

$ $

Current

Interest accrued  - 205

Prepayments 29,348 96,329

Lease deposits (short term lease) 8,100 12,620

Other current assets 83,140 229,406

120,588 338,559

2022 2021

$ $

Lease hold improvements - at cost 107,263 89,893

Less: Accumulated depreciation (77,128) (61,313)

30,135            28,580

Furniture and fixtures - at cost           86,014            86,014

Less: Accumulated depreciation (84,659) (82,255)

            1,355              3,759

Plant and equipment - at cost 493,285          438,287

Less: Accumulated depreciation (430,877) (404,548)

          62,408            33,739

          93,898            66,078

2022 2021

$ $

Current

Trade debtors      1,429,711       2,668,721

Security deposit             5,958            37,474

     1,435,669       2,706,195

Reconciliations 

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current financial year are set out below:

Lease hold 
improvements

Furniture 
and fixtures

Plant and  
equipment

Total

$ $

Balance at 1 July 2021 28,580          3,759         33,739     66,078

Additions          17,370 - 54,998 72,368

Depreciation expense (15,815) (2,404) (26,329) (44,548)

Balance at 30 June 2022 30,135              1,355            62,408        93,898
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Note 9: Intangible assets

Note 10: Trade and other payables

Note 11: Employee benefits

Note 12: Borrowings

Note 13: Other liabilities

Note 14: Equity - retained surpluses

2022 2021

$ $

Salesforce business development pipeline 28,700  -

Less: Accumulated amortisation (14,350)  -

Marketing software 13,900 13,900

Less: Accumulated amortisation (13,900) (4,402)

LMS phase I and II 437,690 252,369

Less: Accumulated amortisation (112,775) (25,237)

        339,265          236,630

2022 2021

$ $

Retained surpluses at the beginning of the financial year 1,637,803 1,626,273

Surplus after income tax expense for the year 7,570 11,531

Retained surpluses at the end of the financial year      1,645,374       1,637,803

2022 2021

$ $

Current

Trade creditors         184,986          211,061

Accruals      2,487,332       2,241,128

BAS payable           96,007          348,759

     2,768,325       2,800,947

2022 2021

$ $

Current

Employee benefits           58,961              5,223

          58,961              5,223

2022 2021

$ $

Current

Credit cards 2,891            22,246

2,891            22,246

2022 2021

$ $

Current

Unearned revenue 2,944,254 3,246,153

2,944,254 3,246,153

Note 15: Key management personnel disclosures

Compensation 

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key 

management personnel of the company is set out below:

2022 2021

$ $

Aggregate compensation      1,021,731          954,157

     1,021,731          954,157
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Note 16: Remuneration of auditors

Note 17: Contingent liabilities
The company had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021.

Note 18: Commitments

The company had no commitments for expenditure as at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021.

Note 19: Related party transactions

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 15.

Transactions with related parties

There were no transactions with related parties during the current financial year and $99,500 in the previ-

ous financial year.

Receivable from and payable to related parties

There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous 

reporting date.

Loans to/from related parties

There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

Note 20: Notes to the cash flow statement

Compensation 

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided 

by Mazars Melbourne Assurance Pty Ltd, the auditor of the company:

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and 

investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the 

end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of 

Financial Position as follows:

(b) Reconciliation of surplus/(deficit) for the year to net cash flows from operating activities

2022 2021

$ $

Audit services - Mazars Melbourne Assurance Pty Ltd

Audit of the financial statements           23,692            14,173

2022 2021

$ $

Petty cash 618 804

Cash at bank - NAB public fund account 83,528 44,222

Cash at bank - NAB cheque account 3,950,746 3,115,576

Term deposit - NAB (investment) 156,587 155,964

4,191,479 3,316,566

2022 2021

$ $

Reconciliation of surplus/(deficit) for the year to net cash flows from 
operating activities

Net surplus / (deficit) for the year 7,570 11,531

Adjusted for:

Depreciation 44,548 17,807

Amortisation of intangibles / Right-of-use assets 313,300 224,805

Interest income (shown as investing activity) (4,678) (8,878)

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and 
disposals of business

(Increase) / decrease in assets

   Trade and other receivables 1,270,526 (2,241,268)

   Other assets 18,454 (296,742)

Increase / (decrease) in liabilities

Trade and other payables (18,441) 568,118

Employee benefits 53,738 5,223

Borrowings (19,355) (1,340)

Unearned income (301,899) 1,712,493

Net cash from / (used in) operating activities 1,363,764 (8,250)
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Board of Directors declaration

2022 2021

$ $

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets         795,835          704,632

Less: Accumulated amortisation (567,818) (352,316)

        228,016          352,317

(b) Lease liabilities

Current         229,925          179,393

Non-current 19,895          185,774

        249,820 365,167

Note 21: Right-of-use assets

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of remaining lease payments, 

discounted at an appropriate incremental borrowing rate.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of 

the lease or the estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter.

In the opinion of the Board of Directors:

1.   The attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, 

the Australian Accounting Standards - Simplified Disclosures, the Australian Charities 

and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and associated regulations, the Corporations 

Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

2.   The financial statements and notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 

June 2022 present fairly the financial position of the company at 30 June 2022 and 

the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with the accounting 

policies described in Note 1 to the financial statements.

3.   There are reasonable grounds to believe the company will be able to pay its debts as 

and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the 

Corporations Act 2001 on 22 October 2022.

On behalf of directors

Ms Janine Anne Kirk AO  
Chairperson

Professor David Forbes  
Director

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Independent audit report to the members
 
To the Members of Phoenix Australia  
– Centre For Posttraumatic Mental Health Ltd

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of 

Phoenix Australia – Centre for Posttraumatic Mental 

Health Ltd (the Company), which comprises the 

statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, the statement of changes in equity, the 

statement of cash flows, a summary of significant 

accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the 

Board of Directors Declaration.

In our opinion the financial report of Phoenix Australia 

– Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health Ltd is in 

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

a.  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial 

position as at 30 June 2022 and of its financial 

performance for the year then ended, and

b.  complying with Australian Accounting Standards- 

Simplified Disclosures and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001.

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian 

Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

section of our report. We are independent of the 

Company in accordance with the auditor independence 

requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the 

ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and 

Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to 

our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained  

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for  

our opinion.

Other Information

The Board of Directors are responsible for the other 

information. The other information comprises the 

information in the Company’s annual report for the year 

ended 30 June 2022, but does not include the financial 

report and the auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the 

other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, 

our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 

to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 

have performed, we conclude that there is a material 

misstatement of this other information, we are required 

to report that fact. We have nothing to report in  

this regard.

Board of Management’s Responsibility for the  

Financial Report 

The Board of Directors of the Company are responsible 

for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 

and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting 

Standards – Simplified Disclosures and the Corporations 

Act 2001.  The Board of Directors’ responsibilities also 

include establishing and maintaining internal control 

relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial report that is free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 

appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 

estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are 

responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 

intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, 

or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial report as a whole is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 

and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 

financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian 

Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgment 

and maintain professional scepticism throughout  

the audit.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 

of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 

Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.

au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. This description 

forms part of our auditor’s report.

We communicate with the Board of Directors of the 

Company regarding, among other matters, the planned 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 

any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit.

Mazars Melbourne Assurance Pty Ltd

 

Craig Silvester

Director

Dated this 22nd day of October 2022 at Melbourne.
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“Our mission is to improve 
outcomes for those who are 
affected by trauma, and we do 
that by working with individuals, 
their families, carers and kin, 
organisations, communities and 
government, to understand, 
prevent, heal and recover from 
the impacts of trauma.” 

Professor David Forbes
Director of Phoenix Australia 
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Head office 

Level 3, Alan Gilbert Building 161 
Barry Street, Carlton, VIC 3053 
Phone +61 3 9035 5599

Phoenix Australia. 

Australia’s National Centre of Excellence 
in Posttraumatic Mental Health. We build 
evidence and translate knowledge into 
action, such as improved treatment options 
and greater support for trauma-affected 
individuals, families and communities. 

Understanding trauma. Renewing lives.  

For more information about trauma, its effects and  
best practice treatments, visit phoenixaustralia.org  

Phoenix Australia is an Australian not-for-profit company  
limited by guarantee, affiliated with the Department of  
Psychiatry at the University of Melbourne.

Phoenix Australia is a registered entity under the  
Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission and is 
a charity with Deductible Gift Recipient Status.

phoenixaustralia.org 

phoenix-info@unimelb.edu.au 

Phoenix_Trauma 

phoenixtrauma 

phoenix-trauma  


